

## Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2015

# General Education and Special Education Teachers' Attitudes Toward Inclusion

Carmen Yvette Charley *Walden University* 

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations Part of the <u>Special Education Administration Commons</u>, and the <u>Special Education and Teaching</u> <u>Commons</u>

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

## <u>Walden University</u>

#### COLLEGE OF EDUCATION

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Carmen Charley

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. James Miller, Committee Chairperson, Education Faculty Dr. Lynn Varner, Committee Member, Education Faculty Dr. David A. Hernandez, University Reviewer, Education Faculty

Chief Academic Officer

Eric Riedel, Ph.D.

Walden University 2015

#### Abstract

General Education and Special Education Teachers' Attitudes Toward Inclusion

by

Carmen Y. Charley

MA, South Carolina State University, 2001 BA, University of South Carolina, 1991

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Education

Walden University

May 2015

#### Abstract

Educational reformers have mandated inclusion of students with disabilities in the general education classroom. However, general education teachers often do not regularly receive training in inclusive practices, and this lack of training can affect teachers' attitudes and levels of self-efficacy, which may ultimately affect their ability to successfully teach students with disabilities. The purpose of this study was to examine the difference in general education and special education teachers' attitudes towards inclusion of students with disabilities and if levels of self-efficacy (overall and 3) subscales), gender, education level, teacher type, and grade level taught were predictors of Teachers' Attitudes Toward Inclusion. The theoretical framework for this crosssectional study was Bandura's theory of self-efficacy. The sample consisted of 118 elementary and middle school teachers in a rural district in South Carolina. Data were collected using an online survey, and a 2-way ANOVA and multiple regression were conducted to answer the research questions. Results indicated that special education teachers' attitudes towards inclusion were significantly more positive than those of general education teachers and that teacher type and the 3 self-efficacy subscales were predictors of Teachers' Attitudes Toward Inclusion. For each, higher levels of selfefficacy were associated with more positive attitudes toward inclusion. Social change may be achieved if school district administrators implement teacher training to improve teacher self-efficacy regarding inclusive practices. By doing so, teachers might increase their appropriate use of inclusive strategies, which might ultimately improve student outcomes.

General Education and Special Education Teachers' Attitudes Toward Inclusion

by

Carmen Y. Charley

MA, South Carolina State University, 2001

BA, University of South Carolina, 1991

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Education

Walden University

May 2015

## Dedication

I would like to dedicate my doctoral study to God, who is the head of my life. For without Him, none of this would have been possible.

#### Acknowledgements

First and foremost, I would like to thank God for giving me strength to endure throughout this journey. For without Him, none of this would have been possible. I would like to thank my husband, Michael, and my daughter, Micayla, for their love and support throughout the years during my doctoral study. Thank you for your prayers, understanding, and patience. I also would like to acknowledge my natural and my spiritual family members, friends, and coworkers who supported me throughout this journey. Your encouraging words, assistance, and prayers are deeply appreciated. I also would like to thank my committee chairperson, Dr. James Miller, as well as committee members, Dr. Lynn Varner and Dr. David A. Hernandez, for their support and feedback throughout the years. Finally, I would like to thank Susan Blatnik and Dr. George Smeaton for their support. Thank you all for having faith in me.

### Table of Contents

List of Tables	iv
List of Figures	vi
Section 1: Introduction to the Study	1
Problem Statement	3
Purpose	4
Nature of Study	5
Theoretical Model	6
Bandura's Theory of Self-Efficacy and Social Cognitive Theory	6
Social Cognitive Theory of Learning and Behavior	
Application of the Theory in This Study	
Definition of Terms	11
Assumptions and Limitations	13
Scope and Delimitations	15
Significance and Social Impact of the Study	15
Summary	17
Section 2: Literature Review	
Teacher Self-Efficacy	19
Description of Teachers	
Factors That Affect Self-Efficacy	
Effects of Efficacy in the School Setting	
Inclusion in the Public School Setting	24
Models of Inclusion	

Attitudes Toward Inclusive Education	
Factors That Affect Attitude Toward Inclusive Education	30
Expectations for Teachers in Inclusive Settings	
Benefits of and Barriers to Effective Inclusion	35
Opportunities for Student Socialization	
Improved Student Outcomes	
Collaboration Between General and Special Education Teachers	40
Relationships Between General and Special Education Teachers	42
Teacher Preparation and Experience	42
Support for Teachers in the Educational Setting	46
Teacher Attitude and Personal Characteristics	47
Summary	48
Section 3: Research Method	51
Research Design and Approach	52
Setting and Sample	53
Data Collection	56
Instrumentation	57
Data Analysis	65
Threats to Quality Research	67
Role of the Researcher and Participant's Rights	68
Summary	70
Section 4: Results	72
Descriptive Statistics	72

Inferential Statistics	78
Research Question 1	78
Research Question 2	81
Summary	90
Section 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations	92
Interpretation of Findings	93
Research Question 1	93
Research Question 2	97
Implications for Social Change	99
Recommendations for Action	100
Recommendations for Further Study	103
Conclusion	104
References	106
Appendix A: Permission to Reprint Adapted Version of Bandura's Model of Self- Efficacy	125
Appendix B: Permission from School District to Conduct Study	129
Appendix C: Permission to Use the Scale of Teachers' Attitudes Toward Inclusive Classrooms	130
Appendix D: Permission to Use the Teachers' Self-Efficacy Scale	131
Appendix E: Teacher Attitude and Self-Efficacy Survey	132

### List of Tables

Table 1. Gender, Highest Education Level, Teacher Type, and Grade Level Taught as a
Percentage of the Sample ( $N = 118$ )
Table 2. Cronbach Alpha Coefficients Obtained for the STATIC and TSES Scales and
Subscales
Table 3. Means, Standard Deviations, and Ranges of the STATIC and TSES Scales and
Subscales
Table 4. ANOVA Tests for the Full STATIC Scale and the Three STATIC Subscales 79
Table 5. Multiple Regression Analysis: Effect of TSES Total Scale in Predicting the
STATIC Total Scale Score While Controlling for Teacher Demographics 82
Table 6. Multiple Regression Analysis: Effect of TSES Subscale Scores in Predicting the
STATIC Total Scale Score While Controlling for Teacher Demographics 83
Table 7. Multiple Regression Analysis: Effect of TSES Total Scale in Predicting the
Advantages and Disadvantages of Inclusion Subscale Score While Controlling
for Teacher Demographics
Table 8. Multiple Regression Analysis: Effect of TSES Subscale Scores in Predicting the
Advantages and Disadvantages of Inclusion Subscale Score While Controlling
for Teacher Demographics
Table 9. Multiple Regression Analysis: Effect of TSES Total Scale in Predicting the
Professional Issues of Inclusion Subscale Score While Controlling for Teacher
Demographics

Table 10.	Multiple Regression Analysis: Effect of TSES Subscale Scores in Predicting	
	the Professional Issues of Inclusion Subscale Score While Controlling for	
	Teacher Demographics	87
Table 11.	Multiple Regression Analysis: Effect of TSES Total Scale in Predicting the	
	Logistical Issues of Inclusion Subscale Score While Controlling for Teacher	
	Demographics	88
Table 12.	Multiple Regression Analysis: Effect of TSES Subscale Scores in Predicting	
	the Logistical Issues of Inclusion Subscale Score While Controlling for	
	Teacher Demographics	90

## List of Figures

Figure 1. Conceptual mode	el of the use of teacher training t	o influence self-efficacy and
change teacher b	behavior and performance	

#### Section 1: Introduction to the Study

Until recently, students with disabilities had been denied access to public education (Yell, 2006). However, a wave of reform starting in 1975 with the passage of the Education for All Handicapped Children Act (EAHCA) has culminated in changes in public education focusing on (a) educating students with disabilities in general education settings and (b) providing those students with appropriate support services (Yell, 2006). In particular, the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA) Amendments of 1997 and the No Child Left Behind Act of 2001 (NCLB; 2002) required the integration of students with disabilities into regular education classrooms.

According to Itkonen (2007), amendments to IDEA, NCLB, and their subsequent reauthorizations have moved the topic of special education from the realm of civil rights to education law. For example, Kimbrough and Mellen (2012) reported that the purpose of IDEA (2004) was to ensure that all students with disabilities are given equal opportunities to participate in their education in the least restrictive environment regardless of intellectual, physical, or emotional disability. While emphasizing high academic standards and accountability (Itkonen, 2007), these laws were designed to promote the academic success of students with disabilities as defined by individual education plans (IEPs) designed to meet their unique needs and capabilities (Yell, 2006). Students with IEPs are often fully included in the general education classroom (McLeskey, Landers, Williamson, & Hoppey, 2012). Inclusion is the process of providing students with disabilities "equitable opportunities to receive effective educational services, with the needed supplementary aids and support services, in age appropriate classrooms in their neighborhood schools, in order to prepare students for productive lives as full members of society" (National Center on Educational Restructuring and Inclusion, 1995, p. 99). The practice of inclusion has generated both support and opposition.

Proponents such as Sayeski (2009) have claimed that inclusion is beneficial because through collaboration, special education teachers bring specialized knowledge to the general education classroom, such as an understanding of students with disabilities and appropriate instructional design and strategies (p. 38). Inclusion also provides an opportunity for students with disabilities and their general education peers to (a) form and nurture friendships (Estell, Jones, Pearl, & Van Acker, 2009; Litvack, Ritchie, & Shore, 2011); (b) gain social skills (Lamport, Graves, & Ward, 2012; Vygotsky, 1978); (c) acquire behavioral skills and develop a work ethic (Murawski & Hughes, 2009); and (d) collaborate, which can promote academic success (Meadan & Monda-Amaya, 2008; Vygotsky, 1978) and social awareness (Mastropeiri, Scruggs, & Berkley, 2007).

Despite claims that inclusion offers benefits to students and teachers, Litvack et al. (2011) found that high-achieving students in general education classrooms felt that inclusive practices negatively impacted their learning, and Fletcher (2010) discovered that including students with emotional disabilities in kindergarten classes resulted in regular education students' reading and math performance decreasing by 10% by the beginning of the first grade. Other researchers have noted barriers to the implementation of inclusive practices in the general education classroom. For example, Fuchs (2009) found that the implementation of inclusive strategies is hindered by unrealistic responsibilities and expectations for general education teachers. Idol (2006) identified lack of knowledge, support, and collaboration as barriers to inclusion, and numerous researchers have identified lack of training as a barrier to inclusion (Allison, 2011; Cipkin & Rizza, 2010; Fuchs, 2009; Glazzard, 2011). In addition, Orr (2009) suggested that (a) general education teachers' negative attitudes toward inclusion, (b) support staff's lack of knowledge of inclusion, and (c) lack of administrative support for inclusion could serve as barriers to successful inclusion.

#### **Problem Statement**

General education teachers in elementary and middle schools in a rural, public school district in South Carolina do not regularly receive training in the inclusion of students with disabilities in the general education classroom. Lack of training in inclusive practices is problematic because, according to Hodkinson and Devarakonda (2006), teachers' perceptions and misconceptions about inclusion may affect their attitudes toward inclusive education. More specifically, based on elements of Bandura's (1977) theory of self-efficacy, lack of training in inclusive strategies may affect general education teachers' levels of self-efficacy. Through cognitive, motivational, and affective processes, low levels of self-efficacy may hinder teachers' ability to master the skills necessary to properly implement inclusive strategies in the general education classroom.

In a cyclical fashion, this task failure can serve as an example of a past experience that further lowers levels of self-efficacy. Specifically, low levels of self-efficacy can foster poor teacher attitudes (cognitive process) and inhibit teacher motivation (motivational process) to persist in implementing inclusive strategies (Tschannen-Moran & Woolfolk Hoy, 2001). If teachers do not support the concept of inclusion, do not persist in their efforts to implement inclusive strategies, and fail to master the skills needed to appropriately implement inclusive strategies, those strategies will not be implemented. When inclusive strategies are not implemented or are not implemented properly, students with disabilities in the general education classrooms do not receive the support they need to reach their fullest potential. Ultimately, lack of teacher training in inclusive practices could have a negative impact on the academic (Fuchs, 2009) and social (Sayeski, 2009) success of students with disabilities.

#### Purpose

The purpose of this study was to determine if there were differences in Teachers' Attitudes Toward Inclusion in the general education classroom at the elementary and middle levels between teachers of varying types (general education and special education) and education levels (bachelor's and master's) and if (a) levels of teacher selfefficacy in instructional strategies, classroom management, and student engagement; (b) gender; (c) education level; (d) teacher type; and (e) grade level taught (elementary and middle) were predictors of Teachers' Attitudes Toward Inclusion. In light of the insight gained from this research, school district administrators may decide to implement teacher training in inclusive practices as a means of improving teacher self-efficacy with regard to inclusive practices. My goal was that ultimately student achievement may be improved through the increased and appropriate implementation of inclusive strategies for students with disabilities in general education classrooms.

#### **Nature of Study**

To examine if there were differences in attitudes toward inclusion between general education and special education teachers of varying educational levels and if teacher self-efficacy could predict teachers' attitudes toward the inclusion of students with disabilities while controlling for gender, education level, teacher type, and grade level taught, I used nonexperimental, cross-sectional survey research to collect data from teachers in a rural school district in South Carolina. I invited 245 general education and 51 special education teachers from 12 schools (eight elementary, two middle, and two middle/high) in the district to (a) provide data about their gender, grade level, and type and level of education and (b) complete the Scale of Teachers' Attitudes Toward Inclusive Classrooms (STATIC; Cochran, 1997) survey and the Teachers' Sense of Efficacy Scale (TSES; Tschannen-Moran & Woolfolk Hoy, 2001). I used descriptive and inferential statistics (two-way ANOVA for Research Question 1 and multiple regression for Research Question 2) to answer two specific research questions:

Research Question 1. Is there a significant difference in Attitude Toward Inclusion between teachers of differing teacher types and education level?

Research Question 2. Does teacher efficacy (Efficacy in Student Engagement, Efficacy in Instructional Strategies, and Efficacy in Classroom Management) predict Teachers' Attitudes Toward Inclusion while controlling for gender, education level, teacher type, and grade level taught?

#### **Theoretical Model**

As a theoretical model framing this study, I used Bandura's theory of self-efficacy and social cognitive theory. In this subsection, I describe Bandura's model. Then, to provide a broader understanding of efficacy as it may be applicable to this study, I describe different types of efficacy. Finally, I describe the application of the theoretical model in this study.

#### Bandura's Theory of Self-Efficacy and Social Cognitive Theory

Based on elements of social learning theory, Bandura (1977) defined the concept of self-efficacy. According to Bandura (1997), self-efficacy is "the belief in one's capabilities to organize and execute the courses of action required to manage prospective situations" (p. 37). These beliefs affect behaviors and ultimately performance outcomes (Bandura, 1977). Bandura (1977) described four sources of self-efficacy: mastery experiences, vicarious experiences, verbal persuasion, and physiological and affective responses (p. 39).

Bandura (1982, 1986) maintained that mastery experiences (performance accomplishments) are the most effective way to develop a strong sense of efficacy. Successful performances serve as positive examples that may shape perceptions about future capability to perform that or a similar task again (Bandura, 1977). This positive shaping of perceptions is what Bandura considered improving self-efficacy. Conversely, failing at a task or challenge can weaken self-efficacy by serving as a negative past performance that may negatively shape perceptions about capability (Bandura, 1977).

Another way to develop self-efficacy is through vicarious experiences, which are generated through social models (Bandura, 1977). Bandura and Barab (1973) stated that "observing others perform intimidating responses without adverse consequences can reduce fears and inhibitions" (p. 1), thus motivating action. As a result, people who observe others performing intimidating responses without adverse consequences are more apt to believe their attempts at the same action would be successful (Bandura, 1977).

A third way to develop self-efficacy is through verbal/social persuasion, commonly used to influence behavior because it is easy to use and readily accessible (Bandura, 1977). Through other people's suggestions (either live or virtual models), people are prompted to believe that they have the capability to accomplish a task that they previously felt ill-equipped to accomplish (Bandura, 1977). However, verbal persuasion alone will not prompt effective performance—people also must receive the appropriate tools needed to perform a given task (Bandura, 1977).

The last way to develop self-efficacy is through physiological and affective states. Bandura (1997) suggested that one's physical and mental states can impact one's perception about performance, thus affecting self-efficacy and ultimately performance outcomes. Emotional arousal to stressful situations may promote fear and anxiety, which negatively influences performance (Bandura, 1977). In a reciprocal fashion, those negative performance outcomes affect a person's physiological and affective states (Bandura, 1977).

In addition to the four sources of self-efficacy Bandura (1977) identified, he also distinguished between efficacy expectation and outcome expectation. An outcome expectation is "a person's estimate that a given behavior will lead to certain outcomes. An efficacy expectation is the conviction that one can successfully execute the behavior required to produce the outcomes" (Bandura, 1977, p. 193). Thus, a person can believe that a certain behavior will have a certain outcome, but if the person seriously doubts his or her ability to be successful performing the activity, outcome expectancy will not influence his or her behavior (Bandura, 1977). This is particularly applicable to verbal persuasion, which will not be successful in influencing behavior unless a person's efficacy expectations match his or her outcome expectations.

#### Social Cognitive Theory of Learning and Behavior

Based on his theory of self-efficacy (and concepts drawn from the social learning theory), Bandura (1989) developed his social cognitive theory, in which he suggested that not only is behavior influenced by personal factors such as self-efficacy but by environmental factors as well. Environmental factors may include physical factors present in one's immediate setting or social factors such as the influence of family members, friends, and colleagues (Bandura, 2001). Personal factors include cognitive, motivational, affective, and selection process associated with self-efficacy as an agent of behavioral change (Bandura, 1993).

Cognitive processes involve a person's self-efficacy and his or her ability to shape thought processes regarding tasks. People with high levels of self-efficacy set higher goals for themselves and are willing to face challenges (Bandura, 1993). In contrast, people with low self-efficacy tend to be negative about their ability to complete a task or expect to fail at the task (Bandura, 1993). Motivation is essential in completing challenges and overcoming obstacles (Bandura, 1989). According to Bandura (1993), "self-efficacy beliefs contribute to motivation in several ways: They determine the goals people set for themselves, how much effort they expend, how long they persevere in the face of difficulties, and their resilience to failures" (p. 131). This perseverance in the face of adversity and failure helps people accomplish tasks and reach goals they otherwise would abandon when experiencing barriers to those tasks and goals (Bandura, 1989). In addition, because people with high levels of self-efficacy believe they will be successful, they also tend to have high levels of motivation, whereas people with low self-efficacy tend to be less motivated and avoid challenging and difficult tasks to avoid failure (Bandura, 1993).

Self-efficacy influences behavior through affective processes by influencing a person's emotional state. According to Bandura (1989), levels of self-efficacy can affect levels of stress and depression a person experiences as a result of challenging situations. In addition, how a person assesses his or her ability to function in challenging situations also can contribute to his or her affective state. Low levels of self-efficacy result in negative affective states, which impair functioning and therefore poor behavioral outcomes (Bandura, 1989). However, high levels of self-efficacy promote the ability to cope with stressful situations without negative reactions, thus resulting in more positive behavioral outcomes (Bandura, 1989).

Selection processes involve the choices people make based on their perceptions of ability. People typically tend to embrace challenges they know they are capable of achieving and avoid the ones they believe they cannot achieve (Bandura, 1989, 1993).

For example, "the more efficacious people judge themselves to be, the wider the range of career options they consider appropriate and the better they prepare themselves educationally for different occupational pursuits" (Bandura, 1989, p. 1178). According to Bandura (1989), career limitations tend to be more the result of people's perceptions of their inability rather than a condition of their actual ability.

#### **Application of the Theory in This Study**

The purpose of this study is to determine the differences between general education and special education Teachers' Attitudes Toward Inclusion and to determine the strength of the relationship between teacher self-efficacy and Teachers' Attitudes Toward Inclusion. Using Bandura's theory of self-efficacy as a theoretical model for this study will provide a foundation for understanding the conditions associated with teacher attitude and self-efficacy toward inclusive practices. Such an understanding will be beneficial for interpreting and discussing the results of this study.

Based on the literature, it was plausible that I might find general education teachers had lower levels of self-efficacy than special education teachers. Training as a means of improving self-efficacy has been indicated in the literature (see Fuchs, 2009; Horne & Timmons, 2009). In addition, teachers who have successful student academic and social outcomes are more confident in their capabilities to teach various types of students (Tschannen-Moran & Woolfolk Hoy, 2001). Considering the purpose of my study and the associated literature, applying the theory of self-efficacy (Bandura, 1977) and social cognitive theory (Bandura, 1989) to this study was beneficial because it provided a perspective for understanding the potential value of teacher training for improving teacher skills and ultimately student outcomes and how those improved student outcomes could work in a reciprocal fashion to further improve teacher selfefficacy. Teacher training could provide a means of altering teachers' expectancy outcomes by not only serving as a tool for achieving success in combination with verbal persuasion but by providing a means of promoting mastery and vicarious experiences. In Figure 1, I present a graphic representation of how Bandura's theories could be used to understand participant behavior that may be demonstrated in my study results and to provide direction for making recommendations for action and prompting changes in current educational practices.

#### **Definition of Terms**

The following terms and phrases are defined as used in this study:

*Efficacy*: According to Tschannen-Moran and Woolfolk Hoy (2001) and measured in this study by the TSES, efficacy refers to a "teacher's belief in his or her capability to organize and execute courses of action required to successfully accomplish a specific teaching task in a particular context" (p. 233)—conditions Bandura (1977) referred to as self-efficacy. Although Tschannen-Moran and Woolfolk Hoy also considered efficacy to be affected by analysis of both the task at hand (personal teaching efficacy) and the conditions surrounding the task (general teaching efficacy), for the purposes of this study with regard to teachers' general perceptions of their ability to accomplish a task, Tschannen-Moran and Woolfolk Hoy's definition of efficacy will be understood to be synonymous with the term self-efficacy.



*Figure 1*. Conceptual model of the use of teacher training to influence self-efficacy and change teacher behavior and performance. Adapted from D. S. Staples, J. S. Hulland, & C. A. Higgins (1998). A self-efficacy theory explanation for the management of remote workers in virtual organizations. *Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication, 3*(4). Copyright 2013 by John Wiley & Sons, Inc. Reprinted with permission (see Appendix A).

*Inclusive environment:* An inclusive environment is a setting with diverse learners who are actively engaged in an environment that is supportive and promotes academic achievement (Lawrence-Brown, 2006). In this study, inclusive environment will refer to the general education setting in which students with disabilities receive educational services as appropriate and as defined by their IEPs.

*Least restrictive environment (LRE):* LRE refers to the concept that whenever possible, students with disabilities should be educated with their peers in regular education classrooms—education in other environments should occur "only when the nature or severity of the disability of a child is such that education in regular classes with the use of supplementary aids and services cannot be achieved satisfactorily" (IDEA, 2004, Section Title I, B, 612, a, 5, A).

*Self-efficacy:* According to Bandura (1995), self-efficacy is "the belief in one's capabilities to organize and execute the courses of action required to manage prospective situations" (p. 2).

#### **Assumptions and Limitations**

While preparing this study, I made several assumptions and recognized potential limitations. First, I assumed that the potential teacher participants had an inherent interest in improving outcomes for students and thus would answer the survey questions honestly. This assumption was a potential limitation because dishonest responses from participants could have skewed my results. However, to encourage honest responses on all communications with participants as well as on the survey itself, I reminded participants that their responses would be anonymous. Second, I assumed that the teachers who participated in my study would represent the general population of teachers at the study site. However, because I used convenience sampling to recruit participants in my study, I was not be able to generalize my results to the larger population of teachers in other school districts in the state or at the national level. Despite this limitation, in this study, I was able to generate data regarding teachers' attitudes toward inclusion, which the district could use to make decisions about professional development opportunities for teachers.

Third, I assumed that Bandura's theory of self-efficacy (1977) and his social cognitive theory (1986) would offer an appropriate lens through which to explore the effects of self-efficacy on teachers' behaviors in the local setting of focus in this study. This assumption was a potential limitation because by using only Bandura's theories, the interpretation of my data was limited to perspectives posed by those theories. However, the pervasive use of Bandura's theory of self-efficacy (1977) and social cognitive theory (1986) in studies exploring the relationship between self-efficacy and behavioral outcomes served as evidence that these theories would be appropriate for the similar purpose in this study. Moreover, I used additional perspectives posed in the literature as appropriate.

An additional limitation was that I did not consider the length of time teachers had been teaching For instance, a general education teacher with many years of teaching experience may report high levels of self-efficacy with inclusive practices when compared to an inexperienced first-year special education teacher, which may mean length of time teaching (or teaching experience) is more important than teacher type (regular vs. special education). Therefore, results based on teacher type may not accurately reflect the influence of time (experience) on the outcome, attitudes toward students with disabilities and inclusion.

#### **Scope and Delimitations**

I limited the scope of this study to the dependent variable Teachers' Attitudes Toward Inclusion and five independent variables: teacher self-efficacy (instructional strategies, classroom management, and student engagement), gender, education level, teacher type, and grade level taught. I delimited the study to the examination of the impact of the independent variables on Teachers' Attitudes Toward Inclusion. I did not examine teachers' attitudes toward other aspects of teaching. I delimited the sample population to general and special education teachers who teach in inclusive settings in elementary and middle schools in one rural public school district in South Carolina. I delimited the measurement of teachers' attitudes to the STATIC instrument and the measurement of self-efficacy to the TSES instrument.

#### Significance and Social Impact of the Study

Based on elements of Bandura's (1977) theory of self-efficacy and social cognitive theory (1986), lack of training in inclusive strategies may affect teachers' levels of self-efficacy. Through multiple cognitive processes, low levels of self-efficacy may hinder a teacher's ability to master the skills necessary to properly implement inclusive strategies in the general education classroom. When inclusive strategies are not implemented or are not implemented properly, students with disabilities in the general education classrooms do not receive the support they need to reach their fullest potential.

The district under study included eight elementary schools, two middle schools, two middle/high schools, three traditional high schools, one alternative school, and one health professions charter school. The district served 6, 869 students during the 2013-2014 school year. Of those students, 947 were students with disabilities (PK-Grade 5 =532, Grades 6-8 = 185, Grades 9-12 = 230). Considering that 45% of those students were served in inclusive classrooms, the potential that inclusive strategies are not being implemented or are not being implemented properly is an important concern. Because 95% of school-aged students (ages 6 to 21 years) with disabilities were enrolled nationally in public school during the 2009-2010 academic school year and "63% of students with specific learning disabilities ... spent most of their school day in general classes" (Aud et al., 2012, p. 32), this concern was applicable at the state and national levels as well.

Both qualitative and quantitative research have been conducted on inclusion and teachers' attitudes at the urban and rural elementary and middle school levels (see Damore & Murray, 2007; Idol, 2006; Swick & Hook, 2005). However, this study added new knowledge in the field by exploring the relationship between Teachers' Attitudes Toward Inclusion and both gender and teacher level of education. This study was valuable overall because it generated insight that may be shared with the school district under study to prompt the implementation of teacher training in inclusive practices as a means of improving teacher self-efficacy. Improved self-efficacy among teachers may improve the amount and quality of inclusive practices in the classroom. Thus, potential for social change may exist in the form of improved student achievement resulting from

increased and appropriate implementation of inclusive strategies for students with disabilities in general education classrooms in the focus schools in the district under study.

#### **Summary**

As indicated in the literature, lack of teacher training in inclusive practices could have a negative impact on the academic (Fuchs, 2009) and social (Sayeski, 2009) success of students with disabilities in the focus school district in this study. For this reason, I examined the difference between general education and special education teachers' attitudes toward inclusion and feelings of self-efficacy toward teaching students with disabilities in the general education classroom at the elementary and middle levels (Research Question 1). I also considered if (a) levels of teacher self-efficacy in instructional strategies, classroom management, and student engagement; (b) gender; (c) education level; (d) teacher type; and (e) grade level taught were predictors of Teachers' Attitudes Toward Inclusion (Research Question 2).

To conduct this study, I used a non-experimental, cross-sectional study design and survey approach to collect data from 296 regular and special education elementary and middle school teachers in a rural school district in South Carolina. After collecting data via an online survey, I conducted descriptive and inferential statistics (two-way ANOVA for Research Question 1 and multiple regression for Research Question 2). I used Bandura's theory of self-efficacy and social cognitive theory as lenses for understanding and interpreting the results of my analysis. Although I made assumptions in my study that potentially could have limited my study and my findings, I attempted to control and/or reduce the impact of those potential limitations. In addition, although I may not be able to generalize my results, in this study I generated valuable data that the district under study could use to prompt training of general education teachers in inclusive practices at the classroom level. Improvement at this level may contribute to positive social change through improved outcomes for students with disabilities.

In Section 2, I present a review of current and related literature. In Section 3, I present the methodology for this study. In Section 4, I present my results, and in Section 5, I discuss my findings and implications for social change, present my recommendations for action and further study, and make concluding remarks.

#### Section 2: Literature Review

General education teachers do not regularly receive training in inclusive practices, which ultimately can result in poor academic (Fuchs, 2009) and social (Sayeski, 2009) outcomes for students with disabilities. Therefore, the purpose of this study was to determine general education and special education teachers' attitudes toward inclusion and if self-efficacy is a predictor of inclusion. To find information on inclusion and teachers' attitudes toward and self-efficacy with students with disabilities, I searched multiple databases: EBSCOHost, ProQuest Dissertation and Theses database, ERIC, and JSTOR. Search terms included *teacher, attitude, perception, inclusion, inclusive education, special education, efficacy,* and *self-efficacy*. In this section, I offer a discussion of topics relevant to inclusion with a particular focus on teacher self-efficacy, inclusion in the public school setting, and benefits of and barriers to effective inclusion.

#### **Teacher Self-Efficacy**

Although researchers may discuss self-efficacy as one general concept, Gibson and Dembo (1984) identified two types of self-efficacy specific to teachers: personal teaching efficacy and general teaching efficacy. Personal teaching efficacy refers to teachers' beliefs about their own ability to complete tasks necessary to promote student achievement and "reflects the teachers' responsibility in student learning and behavior" (Gibson & Dembo, 1984, p. 573). Because motivation and teachers' perceptions about their own ability to accomplish a task contribute to this type of efficacy, Gibson and Dembo compared it to Bandura's concept of efficacy expectation (self-efficacy). According to Gibson and Dembo, general teaching efficacy focuses on an individual's belief that teaching itself can generate learning. Because the researchers acknowledged that the extent of "any teachers' ability to bring about change is significantly limited by factors external to the teacher" (p. 574) and the teachers' beliefs that those external (environmental) factors can be controlled or manipulated, they compared general teaching efficacy to Bandura's concept of outcome expectation.

#### **Description of Teachers**

Generally, teachers with low levels of efficacy tend to become frustrated easily and give up quickly when they receive undesirable outcomes (Gibson & Dembo, 1984). Teachers with high levels of efficacy tend to be confident, motivated, persistent, academically focused in the classroom (Gibson & Dembo, 1984), and dedicated to academic excellence (Hoy & Woolfolk, 1993). Swackhammer, Koellner, Basile, and Kimbrough (2009) found that teachers with high levels of self-efficacy were professionally and personally motivated to enroll in math and science content courses to improve their levels of content knowledge. Chong, Klassen, Huan, Wong, and Kates (2010) asserted that in comparison to teachers who teach in typical schools, teachers who teach in schools especially designed for high-achieving students demonstrated significantly higher levels of self-efficacy. This condition may be the result of prior student performance and teacher expectation (Chong et al., 2010). Specifically, teacher perception that students are highly capable and motivated and less likely to engage in offtask and/or disruptive behavior may promote higher expectations for positive teaching experiences (i.e., increased levels of teacher self-efficacy; Chong et al., 2010). Fives and Buehl (2009) revealed that years of teaching experience and grade level taught affected

teachers' self-efficacy. Specifically, the researchers discovered that elementary school teachers and those with 10 or more years of experience in the classroom had higher level of self-efficacy than teachers who taught in higher grades and preservice teachers. In addition, because practicing teachers have more experience than preservice teachers, types of teaching efficacy may be more differentiated for practicing teachers when compared to preservice teachers. For example, Fives and Buehl found that although preservice teachers demonstrated a one factor structure of efficacy, practicing teachers demonstrated a three-factor structure: classroom management, instructional practices, and student engagement. Finally, Pas, Bradshaw, Hershfeldt, and Leaf (2010) found that teachers who exhibited low levels of efficacy tended to generate fewer student referrals to the student support team than teachers with high levels of efficacy. This finding was contrary to what the researchers expected to discover and suggested the condition might be the result of teacher avoidance of collaboration, which might be expected from teachers with low self-efficacy.

#### **Factors That Affect Self-Efficacy**

Researchers have identified a variety of factors that influence teacher selfefficacy. In early research in the field, Hoy and Woolfolk (1993) focused their research on the effects of personal variables (teacher experience, gender, and education level) and organizational variables (institutional integrity, principal influence, consideration, resource support, morale, and academic emphasis) on teachers' perceptions of their personal and general teaching efficacy. The findings indicated that principal influence, academic emphasis, and education level had a significant impact on teachers' sense of personal efficacy. In contrast, institutional integrity, academics, and experience predicted general teaching efficacy (Hoy & Woolfolk, 1993). However, the relationship between general and personal teaching efficacy was weak (Hoy & Woolfolk, 1993).

Ongoing collaboration in a variety of forms can contribute to high levels of teacher self-efficacy. In particular, collective teacher efficacy can contribute to a teacher's personal sense of self-efficacy (Chong et al., 2010; Viel-Ruma, Houchins, Jolivette, & Benson, 2010). Viel-Ruma et al. (2010) found this to be the case regardless of type of teaching level, classroom setting, or teacher certification.

Other factors that can influence teacher efficacy are teachers' personal attributes and level of education (Tschannen-Moran & Woolkfolk Hoy, 1998). In a quantitative study of middle school in-service teachers, Swackhammer et al. (2009) found that content knowledge gained through math and science content courses positively affected teachers' levels of outcome efficacy (the belief that students can learn through the educational process) such that teachers who enrolled in four or more math or science courses demonstrated higher levels of outcome efficacy than teachers who enrolled in fewer courses. However, acquisition of content knowledge did not affect levels of personal efficacy (Swackhammer et al., 2009).

In various combinations, years of experience teaching, gender, grade level taught, type of school, and sources of classroom stress can influence a teachers' levels of classroom management efficacy, instructional strategies efficacy, and student engagement self-efficacy (Klassen & Chiu, 2010). Klassen and Chiu (2010) indicated that only years of experience affected all three types of teacher self-efficacy but found a positive relationship only through year 23 after which time levels of self-efficacy decreased. The researchers suggested their results are supported by Huberman's career stages, which include the characteristic of disengagement for teachers in the later stages of their careers. In addition, Klassen and Chiu discovered that kindergarten and elementary teachers demonstrated higher levels of self-efficacy for classroom management and student engagement than teachers in higher grades.

#### Effects of Efficacy in the School Setting

According to McGuire (2011), teacher self-efficacy, in particular teacher efficacy in student engagement, is a predictor of math achievement for high school students in Grades 9 and 10. When multiple variables are combined as predictors, teacher efficacy in student engagement and teacher efficacy in classroom management together with teacher age and experience are the strongest predictors of student achievement (McGuire, 2011). Moreover, teacher self-efficacy can directly impact level of teacher satisfaction in the job setting (Klassen & Chiu, 2010) and is a significant predictor of teacher job satisfaction (Viel-Ruma et al., 2010). Viel-Ruma et al. (2010) indicated that levels of teacher selfefficacy and subsequent job satisfaction are not affected by teaching level, setting, and certification type.

Both personal teacher efficacy and general teacher efficacy may affect the environment of a learning organization (Tschannen-Moran & Woolfolk Hoy, 1998). In addition, when mediated by collective teacher efficacy, teacher efficacy is a significant predictor of academic climate, with higher levels of teacher self-efficacy being predictive of more positive perceptions of academic climates (Chong et al., 2010).
#### **Inclusion in the Public School Setting**

Prompted by IDEA (1997) and NCLB (2002), students with disabilities are integrated into regular education classrooms through either full or partial inclusion, and instruction for these students may occur through a coteaching partnership between the general education and special education teachers. Despite the implementation of inclusive practices in the school setting, not all teachers have similar attitudes toward the inclusive process: While some teachers have positive attitudes toward inclusion, other teachers have negative attitudes. Student attitudes may differ as well. Factors that contribute to these attitudes vary as do expectations for teachers in inclusive settings. I discuss these various concepts associated with inclusion in the public school setting in more detail in this section.

### **Models of Inclusion**

Service models for students with disabilities vary depending on the type of institutional setting in which they function and may represent a spectrum of teaching arrangements, student placements, and levels of student IEP implementation (Friend, Cook, Hurley-Chamberlain, & Shamberger, 2010). In the public school setting, there are two types of inclusion, full inclusion and partial inclusion, both, according to Giangreco (2007), provide students with disabilities an equal opportunity to learn in the same environment as their regular education peers. Full inclusion occurs when all students with various levels of ability and disability receive instruction entirely in the regular education classroom with their same-aged peers (Council for Exceptional Children, 2011). This instruction includes any additional support needed by students with disabilities (provided by special education teachers) and requires that general education teachers collaborate with special education teachers to design and implement appropriate instructional strategies to meet the needs of students with disabilities (Fuchs, 2009).

Partial inclusion, also called pullout or resource services, occurs when students receive some instruction in the regular education setting (as described for full inclusion) and some instruction in a resource room (a self-contained classroom in which students with disabilities receive instruction directly from a special education teacher; Friend, 2008). Specifically, partial inclusion is defined by student participation in special education and related services outside the regular education setting for at least 21% and no more than 60% of the school day (Center for Effective Collaboration and Practice, 2001).

Instruction in the inclusive setting may occur in the form of coteaching. The practice of coteaching occurs when a general education teacher and a special education teacher partner in order to deliver special education and related services to students with disabilities in the general education setting (Friend et al., 2010). At the time of this study, coteaching as an approach to collaboration in the classroom was becoming increasingly popular (Fenty & McDuffie-Landrum, 2011; Forbes & Billet, 2012), had been shown to improve student outcomes (McDuffie, Mastropieri, & Scruggs, 2009), and in fact was one of the most common ways that teachers could deliver instruction to meet the needs of diverse learners (Conderman, 2011; Pugach & Winn, 2011).

Coteaching involves mutual cooperation and participation in the planning, implementing, and assessing aspects of classroom instruction (Conderman, JohnstonRodriguez, & Hartman, 2009) and may occur in a variety of formats: one teach one assist, station teaching, parallel teaching, alternate teaching, and team teaching (Friend et al., 2010). Joy and Murphy (2012) asserted that classrooms that integrate various models of coteaching models are most beneficial to all students in the inclusive setting.

Working as collaborative partners, coteachers combine their expertise and share responsibilities for teaching curriculum standards and for meeting students' individual needs and IEP goals (Conderman, 2011; Conderman & Hedin, 2012; Murawski, 2012). Successful coteachers are typically receptive to sharing roles, dedicated to collaborating with each other (Wastson & McCathren, 2009), communicative, encouraging, and supportive (Murwaski & Dieker, 2008). Teachers who share similar positive perspectives about educating students with disabilities tend to collaborative more successfully than those who do not share similar perspectives in this regard (Carter, Prater, Jackson, & Marchant, 2009).

## **Attitudes Toward Inclusive Education**

Some teachers have negative attitudes toward inclusion and inclusive instructional practices. The focus of teachers' negativity toward inclusive education varies. When Orr (2009) asked preservice special education teachers to share their experiences with general education teachers in the field, the special education teachers described general education teachers as negative. General education teachers appeared to exhibit more negative attitudes toward teaching students who require modified instruction (vs. additional support in the classroom), such as students with vision and hearing impairments, but the most negative attitudes toward students with severe disabilities, such as behavioral and

emotional disorders (Orr, 2009). General education teachers were most positive about teaching students with language deficits and physical disabilities (Orr, 2009). In addition, to the special education teachers, it appeared that the general education teachers expected that the special education teachers be liable for students with disabilities (Orr, 2009).

Cassady (2011) also found that general education teachers held negative attitudes toward students with emotional and behavioral disabilities but also toward students with autism. However, the teachers were more receptive to teaching students with autism than to teaching students with emotional or behavioral disabilities (Cassady, 2011). Ultimately, despite teachers' confidence in their ability to implement IEPs, adapt lessons, and provide accommodations for students with autism, negative teacher attitudes toward students with autism and emotional and behavioral disabilities had an impact on their overall willingness to have any students with the disabilities in their regular education classrooms (Cassady, 2011).

In a study of general education teachers and students with and without mild disabilities, many general education teachers reported that specialized instruction is disruptive to the instructional routine of the general education classroom (O'Rourke & Houghton, 2009). Specifically, teachers cited "fundamental changes to curriculum requirements, instructional and grading methods, and related expectations of student performance" (O'Rourke & Houghton, 2009, p. 24) as reasons for perceiving specialized instruction as disruptive. Other teachers indicated that, in cases of partial inclusion, inclusion keeps students from feeling a sense of cohesion between their instructional settings and among their courses but also that it keeps students from developing relationships that could benefit them socially (O'Rourke & Houghton, 2009). Teachers in Horne and Timmons's (2009) study had negative attitudes toward inclusion because they felt that continually having to make modifications and accommodations to meet IEP requirements made teaching students with disabilities time consuming.

Similarly, 65% of general and special education teachers in Cipkin and Rizza's (2010) study agreed that not all children benefit from inclusive practices. In some cases, negative teacher attitudes can impact their behavior in the classroom. For example, in their study of Korean teachers, Hwang and Evans (2011) found that 55% of teachers were unwilling to participate in inclusive practices, a condition the researchers attributed to negative teacher attitudes.

Other teachers have expressed positive attitudes toward inclusion and inclusive instructional practices. For example, O'Rourke and Houghton (2009) found that although general education teachers in their study recognized challenges associated with inclusion, they accepted the practice as part of the school culture and reported maintaining positive attitudes toward included students. Similarly, although Ross-Hill (2009) discovered discrepant cases, overall, she did not find significant differences in teacher attitude toward inclusion: All teachers in general were positive about inclusion and confident in their ability to teach students with special needs in the general education classroom. Although results from Hwang and Evans's (2011) study showed mixed results (positive attitudes = 41.37%, negative attitudes = 34.47%, neutral attitudes. Regardless of varying perspectives pertaining to inclusion, most teachers have reported believing that inclusion

is beneficial for students with disabilities because it provides a means for equal educational opportunities (Allison, 2011) and provides social benefits (Hwang & Evans, 2011; Parker, 2009).Of all teachers in Parker's (2009) study, 42% of general education teachers and 58% of special education teachers agreed that all students benefit from the practice of inclusion.

Like teachers, students may have differing attitudes with regard to including students with disabilities in the general education classroom. Both students with and without disabilities may develop negative attitudes toward including students with disabilities in the general education setting (Combs, Elliott, & Whipple, 2010; Fletcher, 2010; Lamport et al., 2012; Litvack et al., 2011). When Litvack et al. (2011) studied the attitudes of average and high achieving students with regard to including students with disabilities in the general education classroom, both average and high achieving students failed to identify academic benefits to the inclusive process, and some high achieving students expressed concern that including students with disabilities in the general education classroom affected their learning or academic performance in a negative manner because the behavior of students with disabilities often was inappropriate. Students in Fletcher's (2010) study specifically identified students with severe emotional disabilities as disruptive and a hindrance to their learning. Katz and Porath (2012) also found that general education students were concerned about the potential for diminished grades when working in general education settings with students with disabilities, but unlike students in the Litvack et al. and Fletcher studies who were concerned with potential behavioral issues, students in Katz and Porath's study were concerned about the academic capacity of students with learning disabilities when students were given collaborative assignments.

Katz and Porath (2012) found that students with disabilities in particular had negative feelings about having an aide in the general education classroom because the presence of the extra educator interfered with their interactions with their classmates. Because students with disabilities are more likely to be bullied or teased by their peers without disabilities, students with disabilities often have lower self-esteem and as a result tend to disrupt the classroom, which can be interpreted as a negative attitude toward the inclusive process (Combs et al., 2010). On the other hand, students without disabilities may have positive feelings about the benefits of inclusion. For example, according to Litvack et al. (2011), both average and high achieving regular education students found social and intrapersonal benefits to having students with disabilities in the classroom.

### **Factors That Affect Attitude Toward Inclusive Education**

With regard to the factors that may affect teacher attitude toward inclusive education, results from the literature are mixed. Results from some studies indicated variables such as gender, age, years of experience, and level of teacher confidence may impact teachers' attitudes toward inclusion while results from other studies do not indicate the potential for these variables to affect teachers' attitudes.

With regard to gender, Cipkin and Rizza's (2010) found that 100% of male teachers disagreed that inclusion was beneficial for students with disabilities. Results were mixed for female teachers; however, the majority of teachers strongly agreed that students with severe disabilities benefit from inclusion (Cipkin & Rizza, 2010). In comparison, Buford and Casey (2012) found no differences in attitude toward inclusion between the genders. These researchers also found no differences in attitude toward inclusion based on level of education: both teachers with bachelor's degrees and those with more advanced degrees in general had positive attitudes toward inclusion.

Some researchers have found that age and years of teaching experience have been associated with teachers' attitudes toward inclusion. Because teacher age and years of teaching experience tend to be inherently linked (younger teachers naturally have less experience than older teachers although not all older teachers necessarily have more experience), researchers appear to study these concepts together. When Buford and Casey (2012) explored the relationship between both age and years of experience, and teacher attitude toward inclusion, the researchers found a significant difference between age groups, with the youngest age group of teachers (< 36) having the most positive attitudes toward inclusion, and that years of teaching experience was not related to teacher attitudes. According to the researchers, as years of experience increased, teacher attitudes appeared to remain generally positive.

Hwang and Evans (2011) also found that younger and less experienced teachers in Korea had a more positive attitude than older and more experienced teachers. However, the researchers also found a negative correlation between years of experience and teacher attitude such that the more experience teachers gained, the more negative their attitude became. With regard to age and years of experience, Hwang and Evans also found that younger (<30) and less experienced teachers demonstrated a greater willingness to include students with disabilities in their regular education classrooms..

In Berry's (2010) study of preservice and early career general education teachers, the researcher also found differences based on experience. Result indicated three types of teachers:

keen, but anxious, beginners (mostly preservice teachers with positive attitudes, but who worried about being effective inclusion teachers); positive doers (more experienced teachers whose struggles with the challenges of inclusion had not deterred their positive attitudes); and resisters (mostly experienced teachers whose concerns about fairness signified their resistance to inclusion). (Berry, 2010, p. 75)

Among these groups, preservice teachers (keen but anxious), were likely to have positive attitudes towards inclusion despite being concerned about their capacity to educate students with disabilities in the general education setting. More specifically, preservice teachers generally demonstrated more positive attitudes with regard to inclusion, fairness, and accommodations for students with disabilities when compared to teachers with more experience (resisters) who indicated that inclusion is unfair to general education students whose learning may be hindered by the process of accommodating students with special needs (Berry, 2010).

On the other hand, in a study of differences in teacher attitude between general education teachers at the elementary and secondary levels, Ross-Hill (2009) did not find significant differences in overall teacher attitude. Teachers at both levels were generally positive about inclusion (Ross-Hill, 2009). However, the researcher did suggest that years of experience may be responsible for differences in teacher attitude in discrepant cases.

Based on interview responses from special education teachers, Orr (2009) concluded that lack of confidence on the part of the general education teacher with respect to teaching students with special needs is likely the underlying cause of general education teachers' negative attitudes toward students with special needs and inclusion in general. Results from Chhabra, Srivastava, and Srivastava's (2010) study were similar although in this study, general education teachers described their own behavior. The teachers said they felt unprepared to work with students with disabilities in the general education setting, which led them to be apprehensive about working with that population of students, ultimately resulting in frustration, hostility, and negative attitudes toward teaching the students (Chhabra et al., 2010). Conversely, Forlin and Chambers (2011) found that when teachers participated in a training unit to improve their levels of confidence with regard to teaching students with disabilities in the general education setting, their attitudes improved significantly.

Researchers also have found additional variables that can affect teacher attitude toward inclusion. For example, in a phenomenological study of teachers in a large urban school district, Allison (2011) found that "professional development opportunities, administrator support, and mutual respect between general and special education teachers" (para. 1) fostered positive teacher attitudes toward inclusion. Although Ross-Hill (2009) did not specifically find significant differences in attitude toward inclusion between elementary and secondary education teachers with regard to levels of teacher training (generally positive), the researcher did suggest that level of training in special education may be responsible for differences in teacher attitude in discrepant cases.

33

### **Expectations for Teachers in Inclusive Settings**

Both special education teachers and general education teachers are responsible for a variety of essential functions in the classroom. For example, special education teachers must be able to identify individual student needs and develop appropriate instructional plans that include curriculum modification and differentiated instruction (Sayeski, 2009). In order to fulfill these roles, special education teachers must stay current with special education issues and understand continually changing special education guidelines, legislation, and legal procedures (Sayeski, 2009). In addition, special education teachers must be knowledgeable in critical areas (Ernst & Rogers, 2009) such as the materials needed to accommodate students with special needs (Sayeski, 2009).

Expectations for general education teachers have changed since many special education students were moved out of self-contained classrooms and into general education classrooms as the result of special education legislation (Fakolade, Adeniyi, & Tella, 2009). More recently, general education teachers are accountable for preparing their students with disabilities for state- and district-wide assessments (Rosenzweig, 2009) as well as promoting their overall academic achievement (Fakolade et al., 2009). General education teachers' increased accountability for special education students in their classrooms has posed challenges (Fuchs, 2009) for these teaches and increased their professional responsibilities (Maanum, 2009).

Moreover, general education teachers not only are expected to be familiar with the modifications and adaptations in students' IEPs (Rosenzweig, 2009), they are expected to actively perform in the development and implementation of those IEP modifications and adaptations (Fuchs, 2009). Implementation of these modifications and adaptations may require that general education teachers restructure the curriculum or implement specific strategies, such as providing frequent breaks, using large print, using graphic organizers, or allowing oral student responses (Alquraini & Gut, 2012; Rosenzweig, 2009). Finally, in order to meet expectations, general education teachers must invest their time, something of which they often have little (O'Rourke & Houghton, 2009). However, teachers generally have agreed that responsibilities and expectations of regular education teachers are unreasonable, especially considering that general education teachers typically receive little formal education or training with regard to mainstreaming practices (Fuchs, 2009).

## **Benefits of and Barriers to Effective Inclusion**

Researchers have indicated both benefits and barriers to effective inclusion. Benefits of inclusion include opportunities for student socialization and improved student outcomes. Collaboration between general and special education teachers may be both a benefit of inclusion and a barrier to effective inclusion. Barriers to effective inclusion include poor relationships between general and special education teachers, poor teacher preparation and lack of experience, poor support for teachers in the educational setting, and negative teacher attitude.

## **Opportunities for Student Socialization**

Students in inclusive classrooms may improve their socialization skills by working collaboratively with other students (Lamport et al., 2012) and by developing and nurturing friendships (Estell et al., 2009; Hollingsworth & Buysee, 2009; Joy & Murphy, 2012; Litvack et al., 2011; McDuffie et al., 2009). The structure of inclusive classrooms affords students with disabilities the opportunity to seek acceptance from their peers without disabilities (Joy & Murphy, 2012). As the students with disabilities gain acceptance from their peers without disabilities, they become more comfortable in the classroom and feel a sense of belonging in the learning environment (Mowat, 2009; Odoms, Buysee, & Soukakaou, 2011; Watson & McCathren, 2009). However, results from a study of friendships among general and special education students showed that although students with disabilities had the same number of best friends over a 2-year period as did students without disabilities, students with disabilities most often made friends with other students with disabilities and only 42% of those friendships were intact at the end of the 2-year period (Estell et al., 2009).

Similarly, Reed, McIntyre, Dusek, and Quintero (2011) found that students with disabilities favored their peers with disabilities. Although the third, fourth, and fifth grade students in the study had limited interactions with students without disabilities, the students ranked themselves as having higher social skills compared to their nondisabled peers (Reed et al., 2011). In a study of early childhood inclusive environments, Hollingsworth and Buysee (2009) found that teachers and parents can play an important role in helping foster relationships between students with and without disabilities by providing opportunities for interaction and educating their children about the value of friendships.

### **Improved Student Outcomes**

Inclusive practices may improve student outcomes through peer interactions. In some cases, students with disabilities, especially those with behavioral problems, can learn appropriate behavior from their nondisabled peers through observation (Lamport et al., 2012). In addition, as students interact, they may share knowledge with each other; when students with disabilities are able to share knowledge with and receive knowledge from their nondisabled peers, they may gain a sense of acceptance, satisfaction, and accountability in the educational setting (Lamport et al., 2012).

Students also may benefit from peer tutoring. When McDuffie et al. (2009) examined the effects of peer tutoring on the academic achievement of students with and without disabilities in both cotaught and non-cotaught classrooms, the researchers found that students who participated in peer tutoring outperformed students who did not participate in peer tutoring (McDuffie et al., 2009). (As a variable, the type of teaching model did not affect levels of student performance [McDuffie et al., 2009]). Results indicated that although student outcomes did not improve with regard to cumulative posttests (identification and production questions), student performance on identification questions on unit tests did improve (McDuffie et al., 2009). The researchers concluded that peer tutoring was beneficial for improving student performance of lower-level thinking skills and posited that this outcome was due to increased time on task resulting from peer interactions in which students kept each other focused during the completion of the given assignment. In a similar study, Scruggs, Mastropieri, and Marshak (2012) found that both students with disabilities and students without disabilities who received instruction in a peer-mediated environment (supplemented by parental support) demonstrated a positive attitude toward their instruction and made significant posttest gains when compared to students who did not receive instruction in a peer-medicated environment. Likewise, Jimenez, Browder, Spooner, and Dibiase (2012) found that peer-mediated instruction led to improved student outcomes for students with moderate learning disabilities. Although the majority of students required additional support to reach the mastery level, students who participated in the peer-mediated instruction demonstrated improvement in correct responses on science unit tests (Jimenez et al., 2012).

Results of a study by Ryndak, Alper, Ward, Storch, and Wilson Montgomery (2010)also indicated that inclusive practices can lead to improved student outcomes. In this study, the researchers explored the experiences of two siblings with significant disabilities, one who was educated in the inclusive setting and one who was educated in a self-contained setting, and found that the sibling who was educated in the inclusive setting outperformed the other sibling with regard to long-term outcomes in the postschool environment. More specifically, despite having had a lower IQ, the sibling who was educated in the inclusive setting engaged in life activities comparable to his general education peers and "demonstrated more skills that were critical both to interacting with peers and adults who did not have disabilities, and to functioning independently across contexts, including at school, at home, and in the community" (Ryndak et al., 2010, p. 50). Although these findings were positive, the researchers

acknowledged the complexity of drawing definitive conclusions from the data and cited a myriad of variables that could have contributed to the improved outcomes for the sibling who was educated in the inclusive setting. In particular, Ryndak et al. acknowledged the impact of parental advocacy and pointed out that the sibling who was educated in the inclusive setting also was the younger of the two siblings, and, therefore, may have benefited from improved parental knowledge and experience with regard to the special education process.

Researchers also have found that the coteaching model of inclusion in particular was effective for improving outcomes for students with disabilities. For example, in the McDuffie et al. (2009) study, the researchers found that although the benefits of peer tutoring were not related to the type of inclusive setting (coteaching vs. non-coteaching) in which the students were educated, students with disabilities educated in coteaching settings outperformed students with disabilities taught in non-coteaching settings. Also, Hang and Rabren (2009) found significant differences between students educated in the coteaching setting and those educated in the non-coteaching setting with regard to achievement in math and reading on the Scholastic Aptitude Test (National Curve Equivalents). McDuffie et al. suggested that the improved outcomes for students with disabilities were the result of "more (a) teacher initiated interactions, (b) individual interactions, (c) interactions of greater length, and (d) behavior oriented interactions" (p. 507) received by the students with disabilities as the result of the coteaching setting.

#### **Collaboration Between General and Special Education Teachers**

Collaboration between general education teachers and special education teachers is pivotal to the successful implementation of inclusion in the classroom (Allison, 2011; Catkin & Rizza, 2009) because it allows for general and special education teachers to have equal roles in the planning process (Leatherman, 2009). Leko and Brownwell (2009) contended that in order to meet goals set forth in IDEA, general education teachers and special education teachers must work collaboratively for the particular purpose of delivering instruction to students. Other researchers have suggested that effective implementation of inclusive practices requires collaboration not only between general education teachers and special education teachers but among all stakeholders (Carter et al., 2009; Naraian, 2010).

One reason that collaboration is so important in the inclusive setting is because through the collaborative process, quality of instruction in the classroom can be improved (Conderman, 2011). When students receive high quality instruction, they are more likely to demonstrate high levels of success (Conderman, 2011). The connection between high quality instruction and student success may be the result of specialized knowledge that special education teachers bring to the classroom.

When special education teachers collaborate with general education teachers, whether in a coteaching setting or otherwise, special education teachers are afforded the opportunity to bring their expertise, knowledge, and support to the classroom and thus to students with disabilities (Blair, Lee, Cho, & Dunlap, 2010; Eccleston, 2010; Hepner & Newman, 2010; Leko & Brownwell, 2009; Naraian, 2010; Sayeski, 2009). In particular, special education teachers bring knowledge about (a) understanding, organizing, and pacing the curriculum (Fenty & McDuffie-Landrum, 2011); (b) individualizing, evaluating, and differentiating instruction (Forbes & Billet, 2012); (c) monitoring students' progress (Murawski & Hughes, 2009); and (d) special education legislation (Sayeski, 2009), as well as how best to provide intensive concepts and skills instruction for students with disabilities (Leko & Brownwell, 2009). In a collaborative setting, this knowledge complements the content knowledge contributed by the general education teacher (Leko & Brownwell, 2009).

School administrators play a vital role in the implementation of inclusion (Leatherman, 2009; Orr, 2009). Administrators are important to this process because they can provide teachers with mutual planning times that teachers may use to plan for collaboration in the classroom (Fuchs, 2009; Mogharreban & Bruns, 2009). Often, however, administrators do not provide teachers with time to collaborate (Allison, 2011; Fenty & McDuffie, 2011; Fuchs, 2009; Leatherman, 2009; Orr, 2009). Moreover, they do not afford teachers planning times that are mutually convenient, assign teachers other duties during their planning periods, or schedule other teacher meetings during these times (Carter et al., 2009). As a result, in most inclusive classrooms, there is a lack of collaboration among the teachers (Conderman et al., 2009) and teachers' ability to address student needs is hindered.

Lack of time to collaborate also is a barrier to inclusion for educational teams that work together to provide inclusion services and/or promote inclusive practices in the classroom. Educational teams may include teachers, teacher aides, various types of therapists (speech, occupational, and physical), and other specialists (Mogharreban & Bruns, 2009). For collaborative efforts among inclusion teams to be successful, the members must have time to communicate and collaborate on a daily basis (Mogharreban & Bruns, 2009). O'Rourke and Houghton (2009) suggested that increasing time for teachers to collaborate may improve outcomes for students with disabilities in inclusive classrooms.

# **Relationships Between General and Special Education Teachers**

Poor relationships between special education teachers and general education teachers may be barriers to successful inclusion. Fuchs (2009) found that tension between general education and special education teachers caused by perceptions of unequal distribution of duties and ultimate work load was a barrier to effective inclusion. Similarly, Allison (2011) found that 50% of teachers in her study believed that a good relationship between the general and special education teacher was helpful for fostering a successful inclusive environment. Leatherman (2009) suggested that lack of time to collaborate may contribute to poor relationships between general and special education teachers.

### **Teacher Preparation and Experience**

General education teachers are responsible for meeting the needs of students with various ability levels and required accommodations (Dee & Jacob, 2011; Jenkins & Yoshimura, 2010). To meet this responsibility, teachers need to be prepared in programs that stress inclusive models of education for students with disabilities (Oyler, 2011), specifically knowledge of disabilities, curriculum development for students who need

academic accommodations, and coteaching strategies of instruction (Harvey, Yssel, Bauserman, & Merbler, 2010). However, teachers often report feeling unprepared to teach students with disabilities in the general education classroom (Fuchs, 2009; Glazzard, 2011). Lack of teacher preparation, either at the preservice stage or during inservice professional development, is problematic in the inclusive setting because it may increase levels of teacher stress (Forlin & Chambers, 2011) as well as impact the success of general education teachers in that setting (Kosco & Wilkins, 2009).

With regard to preservice preparation, researchers have cited both lack of quantity and quality of preparation for general education teachers as a barrier to effective teaching of students with disabilities in the inclusive setting. For example, 80% of general education teachers in Horne and Timmons's (2009) study reported that their lack of training in special education instructional strategies caused them to feel they lacked the capability to individualize instruction for students with disabilities.

General education teachers in Fuchs's (2009) study also indicated they lacked appropriate preparation. Those teachers unanimously agreed that the 'one required course' in special education for general educators was "worthless" and contained "mostly terminology." When asked if the teachers felt prepared to teach diverse learners, one teacher emphatically said, "College did not prepare me in any way, shape, or form" (Fuchs, 2009, p. 34). Consequently, the teachers believed they were unable to differentiate instruction, provide accommodations, and collaborate with special education service providers (Fuchs, 2009).

Similarly, in a study of general education teachers' from a suburban school district, Cipkin and Rizza (2010) found that 72% of teachers agreed that the level of training they received at the college level was inadequate for preparing them to teach in the inclusive setting. Allday, Neilsen-Gatti, and Hudson (2013) also found that general education teacher preparation programs were subpar with regard to preparing teachers to teach in inclusive settings. Although 39% of the preservice teachers in the study completed a course in special education, the programs did not provide information on how to differentiate instruction for students with disabilities or collaborate with special education teachers (Allday et al., 2013). In addition, 67% of the teacher candidates were not familiar with the characteristics of various types of disabilities or their roles and responsibilities as teachers in the inclusive setting with regard to the IEP process, referrals, and response to intervention strategies (Allday et al., 2013). Harvey et al. (2010) found that the majority (70%) of teachers in their study were not exposed to instruction in coteaching methods. Teachers who expressed a lack of preparation indicated conditions were exacerbated by students with emotional and behavioral problems and students with severe disabilities (Cipkin & Rizza, 2010; Forlin & Chambers, 2011; Harvey et al., 2010; Sosu, Mtika, & Colucci-Gray, 2010).

Although Kosco and Wilkins (2009) found that general education teachers' preservice preparation was moderately but significantly correlated to teachers' beliefs in their capacity to adapt instruction, Forlin and Chambers (2011) posited that improved teacher preparation does not inherently assure that teachers will not have concerns about teaching in the inclusive setting. In the study, 67 pre-service teachers participated in a 39hour training on diversity in the inclusive setting to improve their knowledge about special education laws and policies and to improve their levels of confidence with regard to becoming special education teachers (Forlin & Chambers, 2011). However, after the training, the teachers still maintained the same level of stress and concern with regard to inclusive education in general.

Compared to pre-service training, researchers have also found that lack of inservice professional development can be a barrier to effective inclusive practices (Horne & Timmons, 2009). Of the general education, special education, and specialty area teachers in Shady, Luther, and Richman's (2013) study, 74% indicated they needed more professional development to improve their understanding of inclusion and the inclusive process. Teachers identified a variety of areas of interest including assessing student performance, planning and differentiating instruction for various ability levels, managing instructional responsibilities of support professionals in the classroom, interpreting and writing IEPs, providing accommodations, implementing instructional techniques for specific disabilities and learning styles, pacing the curriculum, motivating students, understanding various inclusion models, and selecting an inclusion model to fit the teaching and learning styles of students in their inclusive classrooms (Shady et al., 2013).

According to Allison (2011), both general and special education teachers have identified professional development as the most significant aspect of effective instruction by general education teachers in inclusive settings. This finding is important because the need for professional development for general education teachers was the only identified need about which both types of teachers in Allison's study agreed. Likewise, teachers in Fuchs's (2009) study indicated a lack of inservice training as a barrier to effective inclusion, and Kosco and Wilkins (2009) found that participation in professional development was the best predictor of general education teachers' beliefs about their capacity to adapt instruction for students with disabilities in the inclusive setting. Cipkin and Rizza (2010) specifically called for professional development for general education teachers in the areas of planning and implementation of strategies designed to promote the success of students with special needs.

Levels of teacher experience may impact how successful special education teachers are in the inclusive classroom setting (Kosco & Wilkins, 2009). According to Oyler (2011), it is likely that as teachers become more familiar with the inclusive process over time, they may more effectively implement associated inclusive strategies. Similarly, in a study of pre-service teachers' attitudes toward students with disabilities, Sze (2009) found that as general education teachers became familiar with their students with disabilities, the teachers became more confident in their capacity to teach a diverse population of learners. As the teachers' confidence improved, so too did their actual ability to teach their students with disabilities (Sze, 2009). Sze concluded that confident teachers with good instructional capacity contribute to successful inclusion in the classroom.

## Support for Teachers in the Educational Setting

Some researchers have found that general education teachers reported a lack of support in the educational setting as a barrier to effective instruction in the inclusive setting. General education teachers in Fuchs's (2009) study reported feeling a lack of

support from both administrators and special education staff. Specifically, the teachers identified two barriers to effective inclusion: (a) lack of time to plan for the use of inclusive strategies in the classroom and (b) unrealistic expectations with regard to class sizes (Fuchs, 2009) and the number of students with disabilities assigned to any one teacher (Horne & Timmons, 2009).

Teachers also have indicated that administrators do not provide them with the resources they need to implement inclusive practice successfully (Fuch, 2010; Leatherman, 2009; Orr, 2009). Shady et al. (2013) posited that in order for teachers to effectively implement inclusive strategies, they needed convenient access to instructional resources, such as assistive technology, tools, and instructional materials. In Shady et al.'s study of 34 elementary school teachers, only 15% of teachers reported having such resources, including teaching aids, information packets, and modified worksheets. As a result, the majority of teachers did not feel prepared to successfully implement inclusive practices in their classrooms (Shady et al., 2013).

## **Teacher Attitude and Personal Characteristics**

According to Orr (2009), of barriers to inclusion identified by special education teachers, negative general education teacher attitude, which can range from hostility to tolerance, is the most common. In a review of literature on the attitudes of preservice teachers toward students with disabilities, Sze (2009) identified a pattern among the studies' results. Study results showed that teacher attitude is an important predictor of teachers' effectiveness with regard to teachers' capacity to facilitate the integration of students with disabilities into regular education classrooms (Sze, 2009). In particular,

teachers with negative attitudes are less effective than teachers with more positive attitudes (Sze, 2009). When teachers do not effectively facilitate the integration of students with disabilities into regular education classrooms, those students are unlikely to be successful.

Prather-Jones (2011) found that teachers' attitudes with regard to sense of commitment to teaching students with special needs was related to teacher attrition, a factor that negatively impacts the effective implementation of inclusion by decreasing the number of experienced teachers in the field. Specifically, the researcher found that teachers who stay in the field the longest have an appropriate fit between their life perspectives and their job function as an educator of students with special needs. Some teachers in Prather-Jones's study felt a sense of obligation to do something to make a difference in the world, one teacher felt driven by God, and another felt the need to give back to the world in some way. Prather-Jones characterized these personality traits as indicative of teachers who would remain dedicated to teaching students with disabilities and thus effectively implement inclusive strategies.

### Summary

Teacher self-efficacy can be understood as either the belief in one's capacity to teach (personal self-efficacy) or any given teacher's capacity to teach (general selfefficacy). Personal teacher self-efficacy can be affected by a variety of factors, including both personal variables (teacher experience, gender, and education level) and organizational variables (institutional integrity, principal influence, consideration, resource support, morale, and academic emphasis). Typically, teachers with low levels of personal self-efficacy are less confident, motivated, persistent, academically focused, and successful in the classroom regardless of the inclusive model being implemented.

Models of inclusion vary depending on the type of institutional setting in which they function and may represent a spectrum of teaching arrangements, student placements, and levels of student IEP implementation. The two main types of inclusive models in the public school setting are full inclusion and partial inclusion, termed for the amount of time the student with disabilities participates in the general education classroom. Coteaching is the most popular method of implementing inclusion in the general education setting and refers to a shared responsibility for instruction on the parts of both general and special education teachers.

Teacher attitudes toward inclusion vary and may range from fully supportive to hostile. A variety of factors can influence teacher attitudes toward inclusion, including expectations for teachers in inclusive settings, the type and amount of support they receive from administrators and their peers, and the levels of preservice preparation and inservice professional development they receive on inclusive practices. Expectations for teachers in inclusive settings also are varied. While special education teachers must understand the needs of students with disabilities and stay current with associated legislation and legal procedures, general education teachers must establish a community climate of learning, be able to implement instructional modifications and adaptations to the curriculum, and manage multiple teaching staff in the classroom.

There are both benefits and barriers to effective inclusion. Benefits of inclusion include opportunities for students to socialize and improve their academic and behavioral

outcomes in the classroom. Collaboration between general and special education teachers, although a benefit of inclusion, also may be a barrier to effective inclusion if not done well. Barriers to effective inclusion include poor relationships between general and special education teachers, poor teacher preparation and lack of experience, poor support for teachers in the educational setting, and negative teacher attitude and personal characteristics.

In the next section, I discuss the methodology for this study. In particular, I discuss the study design and approach, setting and sample, data collection procedures, instrumentation, and data analysis procedures. Also, I identify threats to quality research, my role as the researcher, and how I managed the protection of participants' rights.

### Section 3: Research Method

Lack of training in inclusive practices for general education teachers may result in low levels of teacher self-efficacy and poor teacher perceptions about inclusion, which may ultimately affect teachers' attitudes toward inclusive education. Through cognitive, motivational, and affective processes, low levels of self-efficacy may hinder teachers' ability to master the skills necessary to properly implement inclusive strategies in the general education classroom. These same processes may affect teachers' willingness to try to learn to master those skills. When inclusive strategies are not implemented or are not implemented properly, students with disabilities in the general education classrooms do not receive the support they need to reach their fullest potential. Ultimately, lack of teacher training in inclusive practices can have a negative impact on the academic success of students with disabilities (Fuchs, 2009).

For this reason, I designed this nonexperimental, cross-sectional study so that I could (a) examine the difference between general education and special education teachers' attitudes toward inclusion and (b) determine the strength of the relationship between teacher self-efficacy and Teachers' Attitudes Toward Inclusion. In this design, Teachers' Attitudes Toward Inclusion was the dependent variable and teacher self-efficacy, gender, education level, teacher type, and grade level taught were the independent variables. This section includes an explanation of the research methodology, including a discussion of the study design and approach, setting and sample, data collection procedures, instrumentation, data analysis procedures, threats to quality research, the role of the researcher, and the protection of participants' rights.

#### **Research Design and Approach**

According to Creswell (2003), qualitative research is used to explore a particular subject in detail, often using participants' experiences. Typically, when analyzing qualitative data, researchers use methods that focus on determining common patterns, themes, or categories (Creswell, 2003). However, qualitative research does not allow researchers to quantify data from participants' responses, and results from qualitative studies are often considered biased (Creswell, 2003). Quantitative research, on the other hand, is numbers driven and, therefore, often considered more objective; results from quantitative studies also may be generalized to other populations (Creswell, 2003). Researchers use a quantitative design when they want to "employ strategies of inquiry such as experiments and surveys, and collect data on predetermined instruments that yield statistical data" (Creswell, 2003, p. 18). In addition, quantitative research is appropriate when researchers want to use specific measurements to examine particular variables and cause and effect relationships (Creswell, 2003). Because I sought to measure differences between teachers' attitudes using a predetermined instrument that will yield statistical data and because I planned to examine particular variables and predictive relationships between those variables, a quantitative research design was appropriate for this study.

In this study, I used a cross-sectional research design, which, according to Creswell (2003), allows for numeric descriptions of trends of a population by studying a sample of the population. In cross-sectional studies, researchers collect data once so that the results present a picture of conditions at only one point, and because they are not ongoing, they also are easier to conduct (Fink, 2006). Because I collected data only once to explore conditions from a sample population at one point, a cross-sectional design was appropriate for my study.

I used a survey approach in this study. Surveys are data collection tools used to obtain information from and about people (Fink, 2006) and to quantify trends in a sample population (Creswell, 2003). They are important because they allow researchers to gather information about people's knowledge of a particular subject (Dana & Yendol-Hoppey, 2009). Because I collected data from a sample population in order to gather information about a particular subject in relation to that population (teachers' attitudes toward inclusion and the strength of the relationship between teacher self-efficacy and Teachers' Attitudes Toward Inclusion), a survey approach was appropriate for my study.

### **Setting and Sample**

The setting for this study was a rural school district in South Carolina. The district included eight elementary schools, two middle schools, two middle/high schools, three traditional high schools, one alternative school, and one health professions charter school. Of the 6,869 students the district served during the 2013-2014 academic school year, 947 were students with disabilities (PK-Grade 5 = 532, Grades 6-8 = 185, Grades 9-12 = 230). Of the students, 88.7% were Black, 8.2% were White, 2.0% were Hispanic, 1.0% were Asian, and 0.1% were Native American. During that same school year, 77.5% received free lunch and 5.7% received reduced-price lunch. Among the 17 schools in the district, there were 452 teachers. This number represented 383 regular education teachers and 69 special education teachers. Of all the teachers in the district combined, (a) 89 are

male and 363 are female; (b) 73.0% have advanced degrees; and (c) 68.0% are Black, 28.0% are White, and 4.0% are Asian.

The sample included general and special education elementary and middle school teachers from the eight elementary schools, two middle schools, and two middle/high schools in the focus school district. I invited 296 elementary and middle school teachers (245 general education teachers and 51 special education teachers) from the 12 applicable district schools to participate in my study. The sample for this study was a convenience sample. According to Creswell (2003), a convenience sample does not represent a sample the researcher has randomly selected but rather a previously formed group the researcher has chosen because it is assessable or otherwise convenient for the researcher and appropriate for the study. Convenience samples are advantageous because they require little time and effort to access; however, convenience samples may not accurately represent a population (Creswell, 2003).

Sample size in research is important because the larger the sample, the more confidently researchers can conclude that a study's sample reflects the characteristics of the overall population (Creswell, 2005). Additionally, the larger the sample, the smaller the error (Creswell, 2005). One way to determine sample size is to conduct a power analysis. To determine the necessary sample size in this study, I used G\*Power software Version 3.1.0 to conduct a power analysis for the two-way ANOVA for Research Question 1 and the multiple regression for Research Question 2. Results of the analysis for the two-way ANOVA for a medium effect size ( $f^2 = .25$ ) with power = .80 and  $\alpha = .05$ indicated that I would need 179 participants. Results of the analysis for the multiple regression to detect a medium effect size ( $f^2 = .25$ ) with power = .80 and  $\alpha = .05$  with seven predictors indicated that I would need 103 participants.

In a study of 463 studies using questionnaires, Baruch and Holtom (2008) found a 54.7% response rate for surveys distributed electronically through e-mail and a 49% response rate for surveys conducted in the academic sector. Considering my potential population size of 296 teachers, based on the response rates indicated by Baruch and Holtom (54.7%), I might have expected to recruit 162 teachers. Although this number was more than I needed to determine significance for Research Question 2, it was slightly less than what I required to determine statistical significance for Research Question 1 using conservative values for the analysis. However, to increase the chances of receiving an adequate number of response rate used in these calculations was an average, there was error (variance) within the estimate. Based on these two conditions, it was likely that I would achieve the number of participants needed to determine statistical significance in my study.

I determined that my study would still have value even if I did not achieve the needed number of participants to determine the statistical significance of the data because I would have generated descriptive data about the teachers in the focus schools. In particular, I would have generated data about the general condition of teachers' attitudes toward inclusion and the level of teacher efficacy at the elementary and middle school levels in my school district. Thus, regardless of whether I was able to achieve statistical significance in my study, I anticipated calling attention to teacher characteristics that may be associated with positive attitudes towards inclusion. School administrators may use data on these teacher characteristics to consider further investigation of teachers' attitudes toward inclusion and teacher self-efficacy in the school district.

## **Data Collection**

As a prerequisite to collecting data for this doctoral study, I sought permission from the district to conduct research at the elementary and middle school levels (see Appendix B). In addition, I sought approval to conduct this study from Walden University's Institutional Review Board (06-30-14-0065393). I did not collect any data until I procured these permissions. Once I procured the proper permissions, I collected data for 4 weeks. I collected data for this study using a survey hosted through Survey Monkey. The survey was a compilation of four demographic questions and questions from the STATIC (Cochran, 1997) and TSES (Tschannen-Moran &Woolfolk Hoy, 2001) instruments, both for which I requested and received permission to use in this study (see Appendix C and D). I describe the survey in more detail in the next subsection.

Because I had access to the e-mail addresses of teachers throughout the district, I distributed invitations to participate in my study via e-mail and followed up with teachers in the same fashion. I sent reminder e-mails at the beginning of the 3rd and 4th weeks of data collection. As a courtesy, I contacted school principals prior to contacting teachers. As I did for the teachers, I retrieved contact information for the principals from the school's website. In the e-mail to principals, I introduced myself and provided an overview of my study. As attachments, I provided the communications I planned to send to teachers as well a copy of the survey content.

I included in the e-mail invitation to teachers (a) a brief explanation of the topic of my study, (b) my need for teacher participation, and (c) the link to the survey. I indicated in the informed consent (a) the purpose of the study, (b) my role as the researcher, (c) that participation in the study was completely voluntary, (d) that all responses would remain anonymous, and (e) that there would be minimal risk for participating in the study. I also (a) identified the eligibility criteria and (b) indicated that no compensation of any kind would be given for participating in the study and that the survey would take about 10 to 15 minutes to complete. Finally, I indicated (a) that the letter of consent was for informational purposes only and (b) that I would assume participants who clicked on the survey link and navigated to and completed the survey have agreed to participate in the study according to the conditions described in the form.

### Instrumentation

The instrument I used in this study was a survey that I distributed online. Therefore, to complete the study, participants needed to navigate to the study via the link in the study invitation and then click on appropriate response options. All raw data I collected using these instruments will be available upon request for 5 years, after which time it will be destroyed.

The Teacher Attitude and Self-Efficacy Survey used in this study was composed of three sections (see Appendix E). The first section of my instrument (Questions 1-4) was made up of demographic data on four independent variables: (a) gender, (b) education level, (c) teacher type, and (d) grade level taught. The second section of my instrument (Questions 5-24) was focused on attitudes toward inclusion of students with disabilities (dependent variable) and was made up of the entire STATIC (Cochran, 1997) instrument. The third section of my instrument (Questions 25-36) was focused on self-efficacy (three independent variables: instructional strategies, classroom management, and student engagement) with regard to inclusion and was made up of the entire TSES (short form; Tschannen-Moran & Woolfolk Hoy, 2001) instrument. I chose to use the short version of the TSES to limit the total number of questions on my survey and increase the chances of teacher participation.

To determine the reliability of this instrument, I conducted scale reliability analysis. According to Multon and Coleman (2010), Cronbach's alpha coefficient is the most commonly used method to quantify the reliability of an instrument by determining scale reliability (internal consistency) of the instrument. Tavakol and Dennick (2011) asserted that "internal consistency describes the extent to which all the items in a test measure the same concept or construct and hence it is connected to the inter-relatedness of the items within the test" (p. 53). Alpha coefficients range from measures of 0 to 1 (Tavakol & Dennick, 2011). According to Bland and Altman (1997), Cronbach's alpha coefficients between .70 and .80 are considered satisfactory, while in clinical applications, acceptable Cronbach's alphas range between .90 and .95. Multon and Coleman described similar ranges, with .90 and above demonstrating high reliability, .80 to .89 demonstrating very good reliability, and .70 to .79 demonstrating good or adequate reliability. Because I was not determining Cronbach's alphas in a clinical application, I used a cut off of .70 to determine adequate reliability in my study. The dependent variable, attitudes toward students with disabilities and inclusion, included four subscales: advantages and disadvantages of inclusion, professional issues regarding inclusion, philosophical issues regarding inclusion, and logistical concerns of inclusion. The independent variables and their categories were gender (male and female), teacher type (general education or special education), education level (bachelor's or master's), grade level taught (elementary or middle), and self-efficacy (instructional strategies, classroom management, and student engagement).

Scale of Teachers' Attitudes Toward Inclusive Classrooms. Cochran (1997) originally developed the Teachers' Attitudes Toward Inclusion (TATI) instrument in 1993 to measure teachers' attitudes toward students with disabilities and inclusion. The researcher piloted the TATI, a 30-item survey using a 6-point Likert-type scale ranging from 0 (*strongly disagree*) to 5 (*strongly agree*), with a population of 31 regular and special education teachers (Cochran, 1997). To test the reliability of the instrument, Cochran conducted scale reliability analysis. This analysis was conducted in two stages. First, in order to determine on which items to conduct the analysis, Cochran calculated item-to-total coefficients for the 30 items. Then, after dropping the seven items with the lowest item-to-total coefficients, Cochran conducted the scale reliability analysis on the remaining 23 items, which had item-to-total coefficients ranging from .29 to .82. The Cronbach's alpha coefficient for the 23 remaining items taken together was .91 (Cochran, 1997).

Because Cochran (1997) was concerned about having sacrificed content validity to achieve instrument reliability, he conducted factor analysis to determine the
distribution of the items loading on the factors. Results from the analysis indicated an eight factor solution, which Cochran described as a potentially valid method for measuring teaching attitudes toward students with disabilities and inclusion. Factor analysis is a statistical technique used to determine the shared variance among a set of variables and allocate this variance to a smaller number of variables called factors (Mertler & Vannatta, 2005). According to Mertler and Vannatta (2005), a factor is an unobservable variable comprised of a cluster of variables (e.g., survey items) measuring some common construct.

In 1996, Cochran (1997) conducted a second pilot study to test the capacity of the instrument to measure the construct with a larger sample (n = 188). Again Cochran conducted scale reliability analysis to test the instrument's reliability. After conducting the reliability analysis, Cochran found a Cronbach's alpha of .71 for the 30 items combined; subsequently, he recalculated the Cronbach's alphas without items with item-to-total coefficients below .39 (n = 10). Results of the reliability analysis using the remaining 20 items yielded a Cronbach's alpha coefficient of .88 (Cochran, 1997). Cochran then conducted a factor analysis on the remaining 20 items and found the most logical solution was a six-factor solution: professional, philosophical, educational benefits, educational problems, logistical, and behavioral problems. Based on analyses Cochran performed during the second pilot study, he again revised the instrument and renamed it the STATIC.

To further test the soundness of the revised STATIC instrument, Cochran (2000) again conducted scale reliability analysis on the 20 items in the scale. The item-to-total

coefficients for the 20 items ranged from .26 to .70. Results of the scales reliability analysis indicated a total alpha of .89 (Cochran, 2000). After Cochran performed a confirmatory factor analysis following the Kaiser rule, he dropped the final two factors and indicated a four-factor solution: (a) advantages and disadvantages of inclusion (Items 7, 11, 12, 13, 14, 15, and 20); (b) professional issues of inclusion (Items 1, 2, 3, 4, and 9); (c) philosophical issues of inclusion (Items 5, 6, 10, and 16); and (d) logistical issues of inclusion (Items 8, 17, 18, and 19). The Cronbach's alphas for each of the factors were .87, .83, .57, and .62, respectively.

The instrument includes six negatively worded items (3, 4, 7, 9, 13, and 15), which must be reverse scored prior to calculation of the scale value. For example, the item *I become easily frustrated when teaching students with disabilities* has a high negative value and is reverse coded for data analyses. The resulting scores, when summed, represent an attitudinal index ranging from 0 to 100. According to Cochran (2000), the higher the score, the more positive the attitude and the lower the score the more negative the attitude.

**Teachers' Self-Efficacy Scale.** Recognizing a lack of coherence and understanding with regard to the construct of teacher efficacy, Tschannen-Moran and Woolfolk Hoy (1998) conducted a study to compare various self-efficacy instruments. Based on that comparison, the researchers indicated "that a valid measure of teacher efficacy must assess both personal competence and an analysis of the task in terms of the resources and constraints in particular teaching contexts" (p. 795). In response to their own call for a new instrument that more accurately measured teacher self-efficacy, Tschannen-Moran and Woolfolk Hoy (2001) conducted another study to compare various instruments for measuring teacher self-efficacy and used that information to develop a new instrument, the Ohio State Teacher Efficacy scale but which they later renamed the TSES.

Tschannen-Moran and Woolfolk Hoy (2001) used 23 of the 30 items from Bandura's self-efficacy scale and generated additional questions based on concepts from other instruments as well as input from eight graduate students participating in a selfefficacy seminar at the time the researchers were working on this study. The resulting instrument contained 52 items scored on a 9-point Likert-type rating scale: 1 (*nothing*), 3 (*very little*), 5 (*some influence*), 7 (*quite a bit*), and 9 (*a great deal*); scores were derived by calculating unweighted means of the items for each factor (Tschannen-Moran & Woolfolk Hoy, 2001).

Tschannen-Moran and Woolfolk Hoy (2001) then tested the instrument with a sample of 224 preservice and inservice teachers. Based on results of participant importance ratings, the researchers did not drop any items from the scale; however, after conducting factor analysis, the researchers dropped 20 items, resulting in a 32-item instrument. In a follow up study, Tschannen-Moran and Woolfolk Hoy tested the instrument with 217 preservice and inservice teachers. Results of factor analysis prompted the researchers to drop an additional 14 questions, resulting in an 18-item instrument with a three-factor solution: Efficacy for Student Engagement (eight items), Efficacy for Instructional Strategies (seven items), and Efficacy for Classroom Management (three items). Although scale reliability analysis indicated Cronbach's

alphas of .82, .81, and .72, respectively, the researchers conducted secondary factor analysis of the data from both this study and the previous study and determined the 18item scale could be considered an effective measure of efficacy (reliability of .95).

Tschannen-Moran and Wookfolk Hoy (2001) also tested for construct validity by comparing their scale to four established scales. As the researchers expected, results of the comparisons indicated positive correlations with both personal teacher efficacy and general teacher efficacy but negative correlations with work alienation and pupil control ideology. To confirm the accuracy of the correlations, the researchers reran the correlations for inservice teacher alone and found similar results.

Although Tschannen-Moran and Wookfolk Hoy (2001) considered the 18-item scale to be valid and reliable, one weak factor score (management) prompted the researchers to test the instrument a third time. Hypothesizing that the weak score may be the result of too few items in the management subscale, the researchers added 18 questions, resulting in a 36-item scale. The researchers tested the instrument with 410 preservice and inservice teachers; results indicated the same three factor solution as the original study: Efficacy in Instructional Strategies (15 items), Efficacy for Classroom Management (nine items), and Efficacy for Student Engagement (12 items). After choosing the eight items with the highest loading for each factor, the researchers repeated the factor analysis on the remaining 24 items; factor loadings ranged from .50 to .78. The researchers indicated scale reliability scores of .91, .90, and .87 for instruction, management, and engagement, respectively, but also found similarly high scores (.86,

.86, and .81) when they calculated scores using only the highest four items in each of the factors.

Tschannen-Moran and Woolfolk Hoy (2001) then tested both a long (24 items) and short (12 items) version of the instrument using two separate factor analyses. Results from the analyses indicated scores ranging from .60 to .85. Second-order factor analysis results indicated a range of loadings from .49 to .76 for items on the long version and a range of loadings from .49 to .75 on the short version (Tschannen-Moran & Woolfolk Hoy, 2001). Scale reliability analysis results indicated a Cronbach's alpha coefficient of .94 for the long version and .90 for the short version (Tschannen-Moran & Woolfolk Hoy, 2001). Based on these results, the researchers determined that subscale scores could be calculated and both the long and short versions of the instrument could be used to assess teacher efficacy. However, the researchers did indicate that the most appropriate measurement for preservice teachers was the total scale score for efficacy.

Finally, Tschannen-Moran and Woolfolk Hoy (2001) tested the construct validity for the scale by comparing their scale to three established scales. As the researchers expected, for both the long and short versions, results of the comparisons indicated positive correlations with both personal teacher efficacy and general teacher efficacy. The final 24-item instrument includes the three scales (a) Efficacy in Instructional Strategies (Items 7, 10, 11, 17, 18, 20, 23, and 24); (b) Efficacy for Classroom Management (Items 3, 5, 8, 13, 15, 16, 19, and 21); and (c) Student Engagement (Items 1, 2, 4, 6, 9, 12, 14, and 22). The final 12-item instrument includes (a) Efficacy in Instructional Strategies (Items 5, 9, 10, and 12); (b) Efficacy for Classroom Management (Items 1, 3, 6, and 8); and (c) Student Engagement (Items 2, 4, 7, and 11; Tschannen-Moran & Hoy, 2001). After their extensive testing of the TSES (both the long and the short version with both preservice and inservice teachers), Tschannen-Moran and Woolfolk Hoy suggested that their instrument was reasonably valid and reliable and that it could be a useful tool for those exploring teacher self-efficacy, inclusive of both personal teaching efficacy and general teacher efficacy.

### **Data Analysis**

To conduct all statistical analyses, I used SPSS Version 20.0. I conducted both descriptive and inferential analyses and present the data both in narrative form and graphically as appropriate. I conducted descriptive statistics to analyze the participant demographics and report the results for frequency, mean, and standard deviation. I conducted inferential statistics to answer Research Questions 1 and 2. Specifically, to determine if there were significant differences in Attitude Toward Inclusion between teachers of differing teacher types and education level, I used a two-way ANOVA. To determine if teacher efficacy predicted teachers' attitudes toward inclusion of students with disabilities, I used a multiple regression statistical model to identify predictive patterns among variables.

The dependent variable, attitudes toward students with disabilities and inclusion (measured on a Likert-type scale ranging from 0 to 5), and the independent variable, selfefficacy (measured on a Likert-type scale ranging from 1 to 9), were interval data. The remaining four independent variables were nominal: gender, teacher type, education level, and grade level taught. By analyzing the data using two-way ANOVA and multiple regression, I obtained data that I used to answer the research questions for this study based on my proposed hypotheses:

Research Question 1. Is there a significant difference in Attitude Toward Inclusion between teachers of differing teacher types and education levels?

 $H_01$ : There is no significant difference in Attitude Toward Inclusion between teachers of differing teacher types and education levels.

 $H_1$ 1: There is a significant difference in Attitude Toward Inclusion between teachers of differing teacher types and education levels.

Research Question 2. Does teacher efficacy (Efficacy for Student Engagement, Efficacy in Instructional Strategies, and Efficacy for Classroom Management) predict teachers' attitudes toward inclusion while controlling for gender, education level, teacher type, and grade level taught?

 $H_02$ : Teacher efficacy (Efficacy for Student Engagement, Efficacy in Instructional Strategies, and Efficacy for Classroom Management) is not a predictor of teachers' attitudes toward inclusion while controlling for gender, education level, teacher type, and grade level taught.

 $H_1$ 2: Teacher efficacy (Efficacy for Student Engagement, Efficacy in Instructional Strategies, and Efficacy for Classroom Management) is a predictor of teachers' attitudes toward inclusion while controlling for gender, education level, teacher type, and grade level taught.

#### **Threats to Quality Research**

According to Creswell (2009), threats to internal validity refer to procedures associated with data collection and participants in an experimental study, threats that may affect research outcomes. Maintaining internal validity is important because without internal validity, one is unable to draw conclusions about variable correlations and cause and effect relationships (Leedy & Ormrod, 2010). This study was non-experimental in nature. However, because I conducted analyses to determine the correlations between my variables, it was important that I ensured the internal validity of my study. In particular, poor instrumentation can result in inaccurate measurement of variables, and poor participant selection processes can result in the selection of participants whose characteristics inadvertently affect study outcomes (Creswell, 2003). To mitigate the effects of these threats to the internal validity in my study, I used preestablished data collection tools with demonstrated internal consistency, but I also conducted my own scale reliability analysis to confirm the appropriateness of the tools for my particular population. In addition, to decrease the chances of human error while handling my data during the collection and analysis processes, I used the online data collection tool SurveyMonkey, which allowed me to export my study data to an Excel spreadsheet for easy import to SPSS for further analysis. To mitigate threats to validity based on participant selection, I invited a diverse population to participate in my study, which should reduce the effect of participants' latent or underlying characteristics.

Threats to a study's external validity arise when a researcher draws inferences from the sample data and incorrectly applies them to other populations, other settings, or past or future situations (Creswell, 2009). Incorrect inferences may result when a researcher generalizes beyond a group in the experiment to other groups not under study (Creswell, 2009). Maintaining external validity in a study is important because study results are most valuable when they are accurately applied to situations and populations (Leedy & Ormond, 2010). One threat to external validity in this study was that the perspectives of teachers may have been representative of the particular school culture within the district. Thus, teachers in other school districts with differing missions, values, and levels of support may have different perspectives with regard to inclusion.

### **Role of the Researcher and Participant's Rights**

To ensure the protection of participant's rights, throughout my research activities, I maintained the highest level of ethical standards expected of researchers. For example, I sought and considered feedback from my committee and university reviewer concerning the ethical appropriateness of my research design and approach, and prior to beginning any research, I obtained permission from the district as well as from Walden University's Institutional Review Board. In addition, I also have completed the National Institutes of Health course Protecting Human Research Participants (#951123, 7/12/12).

Using an online survey to collect data also allowed me to protect participants' rights. According to Fink (2006), one benefit of a using a survey to collect data is that it allows a researcher to collect data anonymously. Moreover, in order to ensure respondent anonymity, Survey Monkey, the online tool I used to collect my data, removes all tracking devices from respondents' e-mails. In addition, I informed participants about the study and their rights by providing them with informed consent. The informed consent

form included a description of the study, the risks and benefits to the participants of participating in the study, the voluntary and confidential nature of the study, and the participant's right to withdraw from the study at any time. Participants demonstrated consent through their navigation to the survey site and completion of the online survey.

Because all data collected will be anonymous, there was no risk of disclosing identifying or personal participant information. In addition, at all times, I stored electronic data on a secure, password-protected computer in my home office and hard copy data in a locked cabinet in the same office in my home. Only I had access to the computer password and key for the cabinet. After 5 years, I will destroy all original data.

My role in the research was that of principal investigator. I have worked in the district for a total of 17 years—7 years as a regular education teacher and 10 years as a special education teacher. At the time of this study, I was a special education teacher at one of the research sites and worked directly with three of the special education teachers at the elementary level and 14 of the general education teachers in grades K-5. Occasionally, I had contact with other teachers in my school. Once a month I worked with other special education teachers in the district during district-wide professional development training, and periodically throughout the year, I worked with regular education teachers in the district during district-wide professional development training. However, as a teacher, I did not have any authority over the potential participants that might cause them to feel pressure to participate. Although participation in the study is completely voluntary and participant responses will be anonymous, teachers may have felt obligated to participate simply because they knew me. For this reason, I clearly stated

69

in the consent form the voluntary and anonymous nature of the study and stressed this condition in the e-mail invitation to teachers. Also, because teachers completed the surveys anonymously, there was be no potential for researcher bias during the data collection process.

#### **Summary**

The purpose of this study was to examine the difference between general education and special education teachers' attitudes toward inclusion in the general education classroom at the elementary and middle levels and if (a) levels of teacher self-efficacy in instructional strategies, classroom management, and student engagement; (b) gender; (c) education level; (d) teacher type; and (e) grade level taught are predictors of Teachers' Attitudes Toward Inclusion. To make these determinations, I conducted a quantitative study to collect data from elementary and middle school teachers in a rural school district in South Carolina. I invited 296 teachers to complete an online survey consisting of three parts: a demographic section, a section on teachers' attitudes toward inclusive classrooms, and a section on teacher self-efficacy. The teachers' attitudes section of the survey was made up of the entire STATIC (Cochran, 1997) instrument, and the teacher self-efficacy section of the survey was made up of the entire TSES (short form; Tschannen-Moran & Woolfolk Hoy, 2001).

After collecting the data, I conducted both descriptive and inferential statistics. I conducted descriptive statistics to describe the demographics of my sample: gender, education level, teacher type, and grade level taught. I conducted inferential statistics to

answer my two research questions. Specifically, I used two-way ANOVA to answer Research Question 1 and multiple regression to answer Research Question 2.

Threats to internal and external validity are concerns in any study. However, I took measures to mitigate threats to the internal validity of this study. In particular, I used preestablished data collection tools, conducted my own scale reliability analysis, used an online data collection tool, and invited a diverse population to participate in my study.

At all times during the course of this study, I conducted myself both professionally and ethically. I procured appropriate permissions to collect data and to use preestablished data collection tools. In addition, I used an online survey form that ensured anonymity of my participants as well as provided participants with a consent form to explain the study and their rights if they agreed to participate in the study. Also, I have stored all data securely and will destroy raw data after 5 years. Although at the time of the study, I did work in the school district, I did not have supervisory authority over the potential participants and did not influence them to participate in my study.

Section 4 includes a presentation of the findings related to the research questions and hypotheses, including tables and figures. Section 5 includes a thorough discussion of the findings, and overview of the research, implications for social change, recommendations for action, and recommendations for further study.

### Section 4: Results

This section includes the results of data analyses relating to the two research questions posed for this study. For Research Question 1, results pertain to the differences in attitudes toward inclusion, the dependent measure, across teacher type and teacher educational level, the independent variables. For Research Question 2, results pertain to the degree to which each of the TSES scores are predictors of STATIC scores while controlling for gender, education level, teacher type, and grade level taught. Before presenting the results of the inferential statistics, however, I present the descriptive statistics.

### **Descriptive Statistics**

A summary of the descriptive statistics is presented in Table 1. Of the 118 participants, one participant did not respond to the item about gender and one participant did not respond to the item about grade level taught. For these statistics, N = 117. The sample obtained was largely (96%) female. Reported by nearly half of the sample (45.8%), the modal education level response was master's degree + 30 units. Most of the remainder of the sample reported having either a master's degree (32.2%) or a bachelor's degree (16%). Only 5.9% of the sample reported having earned a doctoral degree. The majority of the teachers (75.2%) reported teaching at the elementary level, while the remaining teachers (24.8%) taught in middle school. A majority of the sample (72%) also were general education teachers, while the remaining teachers (28%) were special education teachers.

Characteristic	п	%
Gender <sup>a</sup>		
Male	5	4.3
Female	112	95.7
Highest education level		
Bachelor's degree	19	16.1
Master's degree	38	32.2
Master's degree + 30	54	45.8
Doctoral degree	7	5.9
Grade level taught <sup>a</sup>		
Elementary	88	75.2
Middle school	29	24.8
Teacher type		
General education teacher	85	72.0
Special education teacher	33	28.0

Gender, Highest Education Level, Teacher Type, and Grade Level Taught as a Percentage of the Sample (N = 118)

<sup>a</sup>One participant reported neither gender nor grade level taught, so N = 117.

Prior to conducting the descriptive analyses on the scales and subsequent analyses required to address the two research questions, the internal consistency of the two scales and seven subscales was assessed using scale reliability analysis. A Cronbach's alpha, the outcome value of scale reliability analysis, is a measure of the degree to which all of the items in a scale (or subscale) relate to the same underlying variable (Knapp, 1991). Alpha scores between .70 and .79 are considered acceptable; scores of .80 or more are desirable (George & Mallery, 2003).

As reported in Table 2, a high Cronbach's alpha coefficient was obtained for the full STATIC scale. Acceptable values were obtained for the STATIC subscales Advantages and Disadvantage of Inclusion, Professional Issues of Inclusion, and Logistical Issues of Inclusion (after dropping two of the four survey items: Items 8 and 17). Because the Cronbach's alpha coefficient for the subscale Philosophical Issues of Inclusion was well below the cut off of .70, this subscale was not reliable and, therefore, not included in further analyses. High Cronbach's alpha coefficients were obtained for the full TSES scale as well as the three TSES subscales, Efficacy in Instructional Strategies, Efficacy for Classroom Management, and Efficacy for Student Engagement.

Scale	α
Full STATIC scale	.85
STATIC subscales	
Advantages and Disadvantages of Inclusion	.78
Professional Issues of Inclusion	.75
Philosophical Issues of Inclusion	.46
Logistical Issues of Inclusion	.70
Full TSES scale	.94
TSES subscales	
Efficacy in Instructional Strategies	.91
Efficacy for Classroom Management	.84
Efficacy for Student Engagement	.81

Cronbach Alpha Coefficients Obtained for the STATIC and TSES Scales and Subscales

Based on the results of the scale reliability analysis, means, standard deviations, and ranges were calculated for the full STATIC scale, three STATIC subscales, the full TSES scale, and the TSES subscales. The results of these descriptive analyses are presented in Table 3. The mean score for the full STATIC scale indicated that overall, the participants held a largely positive attitude toward inclusion. Specifically, for the full STATIC scale for which scores can range from 0 (*entirely negative attitudes*) to 100 (*entirely positive attitudes*), the sample mean of 70.19 fell solidly on the positive side of the attitudinal spectrum.

# Table 3

Means, Standard Deviations, and Ranges of the STATIC and TSES Scales and Subscales

				Range		
Scale	п	M	SD	Potential	Actual	
Full STATIC scale	97	70.19	11.83	0-100	35-94	
STATIC subscales						
Advantages and Disadvantages of Inclusion	102	22.24	5.42	0-35	10-35	
Professional Issues of Inclusion	113	17.54	4.63	0-25	5-25	
Logistical Issues of Inclusion <sup>a</sup>	116	6.22	2.37	0-20	0-10	
Full TSES scale	107	90.76	12.00	12-108	57-108	
TSES subscales						
Efficacy in Instructional Strategies	115	30.71	4.28	4-36	18-36	
Efficacy for Classroom Management	110	30.45	4.51	4-36	17-36	
Efficacy for Student Engagement	114	29.60	4.36	4-36	18-36	

*Note.* Only responses from participants who answered all of the scale items were used to calculate descriptive statistics.

<sup>*a*</sup>Data presented for this subscale represent analyses based on two of the four original survey items. Two items were dropped to achieve internal consistency for the subscale.

The mean scores for the Advantages and Disadvantages of Inclusion and

Professional Issues of Inclusion subscales also indicated that the participants held largely

positive attitudes toward inclusion with regard to these particular aspects of inclusion.

Specifically, for the Advantages and Disadvantages of Inclusion subscale for which scores can range from 0 (*entirely negative attitude*) to 35 (*entirely positive attitude*), the sample mean of 22.24 fell solidly on the positive side of the attitudinal spectrum. Similar results were demonstrated for the Professional Issues of Inclusion subscale for which scores can range from 0 (*entirely negative attitude*) to 25 (*entirely positive attitude*). The sample mean of 17.54 fell solidly on the positive side of the attitudinal spectrum. The mean score for the Logistical Issues of Inclusion scale, however, indicated that participants held largely negative attitudes toward inclusion with regard to this particular aspect of inclusion. For this subscale, scores can range from 0 (*entirely positive attitude*). That the sample mean of 6.22 fell in the lower third of the range was suggestive of negative teachers' attitudes towards logistical issues of inclusion.

The mean score obtained for the full TSES scale indicated that the sample had high overall self-efficacy. Specifically, for the full TSES scale for which scores can range from 12 (*no self-efficacy*) to 108 (*a great deal of self-efficacy*), the sample mean of 90.76 fell solidly on the positive side of the self-efficacy spectrum. In addition, the data indicated that the sample had high levels of Efficacy in Instructional Strategies, Efficacy for Classroom Management, and Efficacy for Student Engagement. Scores for each of the three scales could range from 4 (*very low self-efficacy*) to 36 (*very high self-efficacy*), and means of approximately 30 were obtained for all three measures.

### **Inferential Statistics**

In this section, I present the results of the inferential statistics. For each research question, first I present the results of analyses for the full STATIC scale. Then I present the results of analyses for the STATIC subscales.

## **Research Question 1**

Research Question 1 was, "Is there a significant difference in Teachers' Attitudes Toward Inclusion between teachers of differing teacher types and education levels?" A two-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) test was conducted to assess the main effects and any interactions of teacher type (general or special education) and level of education (bachelor's degree, master's degree, master's plus 30 units) on Teachers' Attitudes Toward Inclusion as measured by STATIC scale scores. ANOVAs also were conducted for the three STATIC subscales. Because few participants reported holding doctoral degrees, this level of education was excluded from this analysis. The results of the twoway ANOVAs are presented in Table 4.

For the full STATIC scale, there was a significant main effect for teacher type, F(1, 84) = 19.13, p < .001. Special education teachers held significantly higher attitudes on inclusion (M = 79.74, SD = 7.27) than general education teachers (M = 66.90, SD = 11.32). Teacher type had a large effect (Hanna & Dempster, 2012) on attitudes, partial  $\eta^2 = .19$ , and explained 19% of the variance.

Source	df	MS	F	р	$\eta^2$				
	Teachers' A	Attitudes Towar	d Inclusiv	e Classroo	ms scale				
Teacher type	1	2,041.97	19.13	< .001	.19				
Education level	2	153.77	1.44	.243	.03				
Teacher type x education level	2	45.65	.43	.653	.01				
Error	84	106.74							
Advantages and Disadvantages of Inclusion subscale									
Teacher type	1	264.65	10.79	.001	.11				
Education level	1	20.76	.85	.432	.02				
Teacher type x education level	2	23.78	.97	.383	.02				
Error	89	24.53							
	Prof	fessional Issues	of Inclusi	on subscal	e				
Teacher type	1	575.55	44.10	< .001	.31				
Education level	2	42.32	3.24	.043	.06				
Teacher type x education level	2	8.56	.66	.521	.01				
Error	100	13.05							
	Lo	gistical Issues	of Inclusio	n subscale					
Teacher type	1	3.56	.64	.426	.06				
Education level	2	23.76	4.27	.017	.08				
Teacher type x education level	2	3.61	.65	.525	.01				
Error	103	5.57							

ANOVA Tests for the Full STATIC Scale and the Three STATIC Subscales

For the Advantages and Disadvantages of Inclusion subscale, there was a significant main effect for teacher type, F(1, 89) = 10.79, p = .001. Special education teachers held significantly higher attitudes towards the advantages and disadvantages of inclusion (M = 25.15, SD = 4.12) than general education teachers (M = 20.96, SD = 5.32). Teacher type had a medium effect (Hanna & Dempster, 2012) on attitudes towards the advantages and disadvantages of inclusion, partial  $\eta^2 = .11$ , and explained 11% of the variance.

For the Professional Issues of Inclusion subscale, there was a significant main effect for teacher type, F(1, 100) = 44.10, p < .001. Special education teachers held significantly higher attitudes towards the professional issues of inclusion (M = 22.21, SD= 2.42) than general education teachers (M = 15.87, SD = 4.09). Teacher type had a large effect on attitudes towards professional issues of inclusion, partial  $\eta^2 = .31$ , and explained 30.6% of the variance. Moreover, there was also a significant main effect for education level, F(2, 100) = 3.24, p < .05. Teachers who held bachelor's degrees (M = 19.63, SD =3.22) and master's degrees plus 30 units (M = 17.91, SD = 4.80) had significantly higher attitudes toward professional issues on inclusion than teachers holding a master's degree (M = 15.82, SD = 4.61). Teacher education level had a moderate effect on attitudes toward professional issues on inclusion, partial  $\eta^2 = .06$ , and explained 6% of the variance.

For the Logistical Issues of Inclusion subscale, there was a significant main effect for education level, F(2, 103) = 4.27, p < .05. Teachers who held master's degrees (M = 6.57, SD = 2.21) and master's plus 30 units (M = 6.49, SD = 2.45) had significantly higher attitudes toward logistical issues of inclusion than teachers with bachelor's degrees (M = 4.89, SD = 2.40). Teacher education level had a moderate effect on attitudes toward logistical issues of inclusion, partial  $\eta^2 = .08$ , and explained 8% of the variance.

# **Research Question 2**

Research Question 2 was, "Does teacher efficacy (Efficacy in Student Engagement, Efficacy in Instructional Strategies, and Efficacy in Classroom Management) predict Teachers' Attitudes Toward Inclusion while controlling for gender, education level, teacher type, and grade level taught?" To assess the capacity of the TSES total scale and subscale scores in predicting the STATIC total scale score while controlling for education level, grade level, and teacher type, two separate multiple regression analyses were conducted. Once again, participants with doctoral degrees were excluded from analyses because there were few participants in that category. Furthermore, because there were only five male participants in the sample, this was too few to form a representative group. The variable gender, therefore, was excluded from the analysis.

In the first model (see Table 5), both the TSES total scale and teacher type variables were significant predictors of the STATIC total scale score—F(6,82) = 7.41, p < .001. The higher the teachers' total self-efficacy, the more favorable attitude toward inclusion the teachers had. Additionally, special education teachers had more favorable attitudes toward inclusion than general education teachers. Combined, these two variables explained 30% (adjusted  $R^2 = .30$ ) of the variance in teachers' attitudes towards inclusion.

*Multiple Regression Analysis: Effect of TSES Total Scale in Predicting the STATIC Total Scale Score While Controlling for Teacher Demographics* 

Variable	В	SE B	ß	t	р
TSES scale	.313	.087	.32	3.58	.001
Teacher type (general or special education)	11.88	2.38	.45	5.00	<.001
Education level					
Bachelor's	1.10	4.44	.04	.25	.805
Master's	-4.93	4.16	19	-1.19	.239
Master's plus 30 units	-2.24	3.98	10	56	.576
Grade level taught	2.29	2.45	.09	.93	.354

*Note.* R = .59,  $R^2 = .35$ , adjusted  $R^2 = .30$ , F(6, 82) = 7.41, p < .001.

In the second model, the TSES total scale was replaced with the TSES subscales. The variance inflation factor (VIF) of the subscale Efficacy of Student Engagement was 4.09, which indicated there was multicollinearity (Fox, 1991). Subsequently, the second model was rerun without the Efficacy of Student Engagement variable, and two variables, Efficacy in Instructional Strategies and teacher type, were statistically significant predictors on STATIC total score—F(7,82) = 6.90, p < .001 (see Table 6). The higher the teachers' Self-efficacy in Instructional Strategies, the more favorable attitude toward inclusion the teachers had. Additionally, special education teachers had more favorable attitudes toward inclusion than general education teachers. Combined, these two variables explained 32% (adjusted  $R^2 = .32$ ) of the variance in teachers' attitudes towards inclusion.

*Multiple Regression Analysis: Effect of TSES Subscale Scores in Predicting the STATIC Total Scale Score While Controlling for Teacher Demographics* 

Variable	В	SE B	ß	t	р
Efficacy in instructional strategies	.90	.33	.33	2.78	.007
Efficacy for classroom management	.09	.30	.04	.32	.753
Teacher type (general or special education)	11.73	2.34	.45	5.01	<.001
Education level					
Bachelor's	1.77	4.41	.06	.40	.689
Master's	-3.98	4.16	15	96	.341
Master's plus 30 units	-1.87	3.92	08	48	.635
Grade level taught	2.13	2.42	.08	.88	.382

*Note.* R = .61,  $R^2 = .37$ , adjusted  $R^2 = .32$ , F(7, 82) = 6.90, p < .001.

To assess the capacity of the TSES total scale and subscale scores in predicting the Advantages and Disadvantages of Inclusion subscale scores while controlling for education level, grade level, and teacher type, two separate multiple regression analysis were conducted. In the first model (see Table 7), only teacher type was a significant predictor of the Advantages and Disadvantages of Inclusion subscale score—F(6, 87) =2.87, p = .013. Special education teachers had more favorable attitudes toward the advantages and disadvantages of inclusion than general education teachers had. This variable explained 11% (adjusted  $R^2 = .11$ ) of the variance in teachers' attitudes towards advantages and disadvantages of inclusion.

Multiple Regression Analysis: Effect of TSES Total Scale in Predicting the Advantages and Disadvantages of Inclusion Subscale Score While Controlling for Teacher Demographics

Variable	В	SE B	ß	t	р
TSES scale	.08	.05	.18	1.84	.069
Teacher type (general or special education)	3.69	1.18	.31	3.12	.002
Education level					
Bachelor's	28	2.33	02	12	.904
Master's	-3.04	2.19	25	-1.39	.168
Master's plus 30 units	-2.12	2.11	20	-1.01	.316
Grade level taught	06	1.25	01	05	.964

*Note.* R = .41,  $R^2 = .17$ , adjusted  $R^2 = .11$ , F(6, 87) = 2.87, p < .013.

In the second model (see Table 8), the TSES total scale was replaced with the TSES subscales. The VIF of the subscale Efficacy of Student Engagement was 4.19, which indicated there was multicollinearity (Fox, 1991). Subsequently, the second model was rerun without the Efficacy of Student Engagement subscale. This time, the VIF of the variable master's plus 30 units was 4.02. After running the second model a third time without the Efficacy of Student Engagement and master's plus 30 units variables, two variables, Efficacy in Instructional Strategies and teacher type, were statistically significant predictors of the Advantages and Disadvantages of Inclusion subscale score—F(6, 88) = 3.30, p = .006. The higher the teacher's Self-efficacy in Instructional Strategies, the more favorable attitude toward advantages and disadvantages of inclusion

the teachers had. Additionally, special education teachers had more favorable attitudes toward the advantages and disadvantages of inclusion than general education teachers. Combined, these two variables explained 13% (adjusted  $R^2 = .13$ ) of the variance in teachers' attitudes towards advantages and disadvantages of inclusion.

# Table 8

Multiple Regression Analysis: Effect of TSES Subscale Scores in Predicting the Advantages and Disadvantages of Inclusion Subscale Score While Controlling for Teacher Demographics

Variable	В	SE B	ß	t	р
Efficacy in Instructional Strategies	.40	.17	.31	2.35	.021
Efficacy for Classroom Management	15	.16	13	94	.348
Teacher type (general or special education)	3.57	1.16	.30	3.08	.003
Education level					
Bachelor's	1.81	1.46	.13	1.24	.218
Master's	79	1.24	07	64	.525
Grade level taught	25	1.22	02	21	.836

*Note.* R = .43,  $R^2 = .18$ , adjusted  $R^2 = .13$ , F(6, 88) = 3.30, p = .006.

To assess the capacity of the TSES total scale and subscale scores in predicting the Professional Issues of Inclusion subscale scores while controlling for education level, grade level, and teacher type, two separate multiple regression analysis were conducted. In the first model (see Table 9), the VIF of the variable master's plus 30 units was 4.28, which indicated there was multicollinearity. Subsequently, the first model was rerun without the master's plus 30 units variable, and both the TSES total scale and teacher type variables were significant predictors of the Professional Issues of Inclusion subscale scores—F(5, 97) = 19.93, p < .001. The higher the teachers' total self-efficacy, the more favorable attitude toward professional issues of inclusion the teachers had. Additionally, special education teachers had more favorable attitudes toward professional issues of inclusion than general education teachers. Combined, these two variables explained 48% (adjusted  $R^2 = .48$ ) of the variance in teachers' attitudes towards professional issues of inclusion.

### Table 9

Multiple Regression Analysis: Effect of TSES Total Scale in Predicting the Professional Issues of Inclusion Subscale Score While Controlling for Teacher Demographics

Variable	В	SE B	ß	t	р
TSES scale	.08	.03	.21	2.92	.004
Teacher type (general or special education)	6.15	.73	.61	8.41	<.001
Education level					
Bachelor's	1.61	.88	.14	1.83	.071
Master's	-1.17	.74	12	-1.58	.117
Grade level taught	.93	.73	.09	1.26	.210

*Note.* R = .71,  $R^2 = .51$ , adjusted  $R^2 = .48$ , F(5, 97) = 19.93, p < .001.

In the second model (see Table 10), the TSES total scale was replaced with the TSES subscales. The VIF of the subscale Efficacy of Student Engagement was 4.30 and the VIF of the variable master's plus 30 units was 4.29, which indicated there was

multicollinearity. Subsequently, the second model was rerun without the Efficacy of Student Engagement subscale and the master's plus 30 units variable. Efficacy in Instructional Strategies and teacher type were statistically significant predictors of the Professional Issues of Inclusion subscale score— F(6, 97) = 18.05, p < .001. The higher the teacher's Self-efficacy in Instructional Strategies, the more favorable attitude toward professional issues of inclusion the teachers had. Additionally, special education teachers had more favorable attitudes toward professional issues of inclusion than general education teachers. Combined, these two variables explained 50% (adjusted  $R^2 = .50$ ) of the variance in teachers' attitudes towards professional issues of inclusion.

## Table 10

Multiple Regression Analysis: Effect of TSES Subscale Scores in Predicting the Professional Issues of Inclusion Subscale Score While Controlling for Teacher Demographics

Variable	В	SE B	ß	t	р
Efficacy in Instructional Strategies	.35	.11	.33	3.32	.001
Efficacy for Classroom Management	06	.10	07	66	.509
Teacher type (general or special education)	6.09	.72	.60	8.45	<.001
Education level					
Bachelor's	1.78	.88	.15	2.03	.045
Master's	85	.75	09	-1.13	.262
Grade level taught	.83	.72	.08	1.15	.253

*Note.* R = .73,  $R^2 = .53$ , adjusted  $R^2 = .50F(6, 97) = 18.05$ , p < .001.

To assess the capacity of the TSES total scale and subscale scores in predicting the Logistical Issues of Inclusion subscale scores while controlling for education level, grade level, and teacher type, two separate multiple regression analysis were conducted. In the first model (see Table 11), the VIF of the variable master's plus 30 units was 4.40, which indicated there was multicollinearity. Subsequently, the first model was rerun without the master's plus 30 units variable, and the variable bachelor's degree was the only significant predictor of the Logistical Issues of Inclusion subscale scores—F(5, 100)= 3.51, p = .006. The negative beta value for this variable indicated that teachers with a bachelor's degree had poorer attitudes toward logistical issues of inclusion. This variable explained 11% (adjusted  $R^2$  = .11) of the variance in teachers' attitudes towards logistical issues of inclusion.

Table 11

Multiple Regression Analysis: Effect of TSES Total Scale in Predicting the Logistical Issues of Inclusion Subscale Score While Controlling for Teacher Demographics

Variable	В	SE B	ß	t	р
TSES scale	.03	.02	.17	1.85	.067
Teacher type (general or special education)	.68	.48	.13	1.43	.157
Education level					
Bachelor's	-1.61	.60	26	-2.69	.008
Master's	.57	.49	.11	1.17	.246
Grade level taught	.24	.49	.05	.49	.629

*Note.* R = .39,  $R^2 = .15$ , adjusted  $R^2 = .11$ , F(5, 100) = 3.51, p = .006.

In the second model (see Table 12), the TSES total scale was replaced with the TSES subscales. The VIF of the subscale Efficacy of Student Engagement was 4.41, the VIF of the variable master's plus 30 units was 4.41, and the VIF for master's degree was 4.02, which indicated there was multicollinearity. However, because it was likely that the variables master's degree and master's plus 30 units were interacting, only the subscale Efficacy of Student Engagement and the variable master's plus 30 units were removed for further analysis. When the second model was rerun without the subscale Efficacy of Student Engagement and the variable master's plus 30 units, the VIF for the variable master's degree fell below 4.0, in the acceptable range. As with the first model, only the variable bachelor's degree was a statistically significant predictor of the Logistical Issues of Inclusion subscale score— F(6, 100) = 2.81, p < .014. The negative beta value for this variable indicated that teachers with a bachelor's degree had poorer attitudes toward logistical issues of inclusion. This variable explained 9% (adjusted  $R^2 = .09$ ) of the variance in teachers' attitudes towards logistical issues of inclusion.

Multiple Regression Analysis: Effect of TSES Subscale Scores in Predicting the Logistical Issues of Inclusion Subscale Score While Controlling for Teacher Demographics

Variable	В	SE B	ß	t	р
Efficacy in Instructional Strategies	.03	.07	.05	.35	.73
Efficacy for Classroom Management	.06	.07	.12	.94	.35
Teacher type (general or special education)	.71	.48	.14	1.47	.15
Education level					
Bachelor's	-1.60	.60	26	-2.66	.01
Master's	.58	.50	.11	1.14	.26
Grade level taught	.26	.49	.05	.54	.59

*Note.* R = .38,  $R^2 = .14$ , adjusted  $R^2 = .09$ , F(6, 100) = 2.81, p < .014.

#### Summary

Although the entire sample had largely positive attitudes toward inclusion as measured by scores on the full STATIC measure (Research Question 1), special education teachers' attitudes toward inclusion were more positive than those of general education teachers. With regard to the STATIC subscales, when compared to general education teachers, special education teachers also had more positive attitudes towards the advantages and disadvantages of inclusion and professional issues of inclusion. Also, teachers who held bachelor's degrees and master's degrees plus 30 units had significantly higher attitudes toward professional issues on inclusion than teachers holding a master's degree, and teachers who held master's degrees and master's plus 30 units had significantly higher attitudes toward logistical issues of inclusion than teachers with bachelor's degrees. No main effect or interactions were discovered for grade level taught.

The full TSES scale, the TSES subscale Efficacy in Instructional Strategies, and teacher type were significant predictors of overall teachers' attitudes toward inclusion (Research Question 2). The TSES subscale Efficacy in Instructional Strategies and teacher type were significant predictors of teachers' attitudes toward the advantages and disadvantages of inclusion as well as teachers' attitudes toward professional issues of inclusion. The full TSES scale and teacher type were significant predictors of teachers' attitudes toward professional issues of inclusion. The full TSES scale and teacher type were significant predictors of teachers' attitudes toward professional issues of inclusion. Level of education was the only significant predictor of teachers' attitudes toward logistical issues of inclusion. In the next section, I discus these results in more detail as well as their implications in the educational setting.

Section 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations

The purpose of this non-experimental, cross-sectional quantitative study was (a) to determine if there were differences in Teachers' Attitudes Toward Inclusion of students with disabilities in the general education classroom between teachers of varying types (general education and special education) and education levels (bachelor's and master's) and if (b) levels of teacher efficacy in instructional strategies, classroom management, and student engagement; (c) gender; (d) education level; (e) teacher type; and (f) grade level taught (elementary and middle) are predictors of Teachers' Attitudes Toward Inclusion. To collect data, I used an online instrument composed of demographic questions and questions from the STATIC and the TSES. I analyzed the data collected from the participants using descriptive and inferential statistics.

To answer Research Question 1, I used a two-way ANOVA to analyze data collected using the STATIC instrument. Results indicated that the entire sample had a largely positive attitudes toward inclusion (M = 70.19, SD = 11.83) although, when compared to the positive attitudes of general education teachers (M = 66.90, SD = 11.32), the special education teachers had a more positive attitude (M = 79.74, SD = 7.27). This condition was true with regard to two of the three Attitudes Toward Inclusion subscales as well. When compared to general education teachers, special education teachers had more positive attitudes toward advantages and disadvantages of inclusion (M = 20.96, SD = 5.32 vs. M = 25.15, SD = 4.12) and professional issues of inclusion (M = 15.87, SD = 4.09 vs. M = 22.21, SD = 2.42). With regard to education level, teachers who held bachelor's degrees (M = 19.63, SD = 3.22) and master's degrees plus 30 units (M = 20.96).

17.91, SD = 4.80) had significantly higher attitudes toward professional issues on inclusion than teachers holding a master's degree (M = 15.82, SD = 4.61).

To answer Research Question 2, I used multiple regression to analyze data collected using both the STATIC instrument and the TSES. Results indicated that the TSES total scale (Efficacy for Student Engagement, Efficacy in Instructional Strategies, and Efficacy for Classroom Management), the subscale Efficacy in Instructional Strategies, and teacher type were significant predictors of teachers' overall attitudes toward inclusion. Efficacy in Instructional Strategies and teacher type also were predictors of Advantages and Disadvantages of Inclusion subscale scores. In addition, the TSES total scale, the subscale Efficacy in Instructional Strategies, and teacher type were predictors of Professional Issues of Inclusion subscale scores. Furthermore, teacher education level (bachelor's degree) was the only significant predictor of the Logistical Issues of Inclusion subscale scores. In the remainder of this section, I present an interpretation of the findings, implications for social change, and recommendations for action and further research.

## **Interpretation of Findings**

In this section, I present my findings organized by research question. For each question, I briefly review results of my data analysis. In addition, as applicable, I relate my findings to the literature and the study's theoretical framework.

## **Research Question 1**

Results of data analysis for Research Question 1 showed a significant difference in Teachers' Attitude Toward Inclusion between general education teachers (M = 66.90, SD = 11.32) and special education teachers (M = 79.74, SD = 7.27). The difference between the means scores is 12.84, with special education teachers having the higher mean score.

These results are supported by the literature. For example, Parker (2009) found that special education teachers had a more positive attitude toward inclusion when compared to general education teachers. Of the special education teachers in the study, 58% agreed that all students benefit from inclusive practices, compared to 42% of general education teachers who perceived that all students benefit from inclusive practices (Parker, 2009). Parker concluded that when compared to general education teachers, special education teachers may have a more positive attitude because of the amount and specialization of their training. This training, Parker posited, leads special education teachers to become more familiar and comfortable with not only the concept of inclusion but with inclusive strategies and the proper way to implement them in the inclusive setting. Tsakiridou and Polyzopoulou (2014) also concluded that Greek teachers who had experience in special education training had more positive attitudes toward inclusion, and Malinen, Savolainen, and Xu (2012) claimed that among teachers in Beijing, teachers with more experience teaching in the inclusive setting had more positive attitudes toward inclusion.

In a qualitative study of 15 special education teachers, the teachers perceived themselves to have more positive attitudes toward inclusion than their peers who taught general education (Orr, 2009). In particular, the special education teachers perceived that general education teachers tended to have a more negative attitude toward teaching students who require modifications to instruction, such as students with vision, hearing, behavioral, and emotional disorders (Orr, 2009). The special education teachers cited lack of knowledge and preparation for the perceived differences in attitudes toward inclusion (Orr, 2009). Similarly, Cassady (2011) discovered that general education teachers had negative attitudes toward students with disabilities, in particular, students with autism and both emotional and behavioral disorders. Although these general education teachers expressed confidence in their ability to implement IEPs, adapt lessons, and provide accommodations, their negative attitudes toward students with disabilities not be the end of the e

Results of this study also showed that special education teachers had more positive attitudes toward advantages and disadvantages of inclusion (M = 25.15, SD = 4.12) and professional issues of inclusion (M = 22.21, SD = 2.42) than general education teachers had (M = 20.96, SD = 5.32 and M = 15.87, SD = 4.09, respectively). These results also are supported in the literature. Results of studies have shown that teachers found teaching students with disabilities in the regular education classroom to be a disadvantage and professionally challenging.

In O'Rourke and Houghton's (2009) study of teacher perceptions of inclusive models, general education teachers reported that specialized instruction in the general education setting is challenging because it interferes with the instructional routine of the general education classroom. In particular, teachers cited the need for changes to the curriculum, instruction, and grading methods (O'Rourke & Houghton, 2009). Horne and
Timmons (2009) also found that general education teachers had negative attitudes toward inclusive practices. Like the teachers in O'Rourke and Houghton's study, the teachers in Horne and Timmons's study were concerned with issues related to instruction. In particular, teachers perceived that making modifications and accommodations to meet the students' individual needs was time consuming (Horne & Timmons, 2009).

Results of this current study also showed that with regard to education level, teachers who held bachelor's degrees (M = 19.63, SD = 3.22) and master's degrees plus 30 units (M = 17.91, SD = 4.80) had significantly higher attitudes toward professional issues on inclusion than teachers holding a master's degree (M = 15.82, SD = 4.61). Results reported in the literature are mixed and do not directly support these results. While Johnson and Fullwood (2006) found a relationship between education level and teacher perspectives, Parasuram (2006) did not.

In a study of secondary general education teachers' (N = 84) perceptions of students with behavioral disorders (measured using the Disturbing Behavior Checklist I), Johnson and Fullwood (2006) found that highest degree earned was significantly and negatively correlated with teacher perceptions of socially deviant behavior. When compared to teachers with master's degrees or master's degree plus additional units, teachers with bachelor's degrees perceived behaviors characterized as socially defiant to be more disturbing (p = .05; Johnson & Fullwood, 2006). In general, tolerance for socially defiant behavior increased with level of education, with teachers who held master's degrees plus additional units being the most tolerant of the three teacher groups (Johnson & Fullwood, 2006). Johnson and Fullwood suggested that this pattern was the result of increased exposure to teaching techniques and strategies for managing defiant behavior that would likely be found in course work associated with advanced degrees. In a similarly designed study, Parasuram (2006) measured regular education teachers' (N = 300) perspectives regarding students with disabilities and inclusive education in Mumbai. Although teachers with the highest level of education (master's degree) had more positive attitudes towards students with disabilities in general when compared to teachers with lower levels of education, there was no significant relationship between teachers' levels of education and their attitudes toward inclusive education (Parasuram, 2006).

## **Research Question 2**

Results of data analysis for Research Question 2 indicated that the TSES total scale (which includes the Efficacy for Student Engagement, Efficacy in Instructional Strategies, and Efficacy for Classroom Management subscales), the subscale Efficacy in Instructional Strategies, and teacher type were significant predictors of overall teachers' attitudes toward inclusion. With regard to both overall self-efficacy and efficacy for classroom management, higher levels of self-efficacy predicted more positive attitudes toward overall inclusion. The teacher type special education also predicted more positive attitudes toward overall inclusion.

These results, in general, are supported by related results in the literature. Sokal and Sharma (2014) examined in-service teachers' concerns, efficacy, and attitudes toward inclusion. The researchers analyzed data from 131 kindergarten through Grade 8 teachers in Canada. Initial correlations indicated that knowledge of local educational policies and acts, confidence level, and training in special education were all correlated with teachers'

attitudes toward inclusion. Of those three variables, however, only training in special education and level of confidence in teaching students with disabilities predicted teachers' attitudes toward inclusion. Confidence in teaching students with disabilities can be considered similar in nature to overall self-efficacy measured by the TSES scale in this study, and training in special education can be considered representative of the teacher type special education. Thus, the results from Sokal and Sharma support the results in this study.

Furthermore, in a study of 451 in-service teachers in Beijing, Malinen et al. (2012) found that teachers' attitudes were predicted by teacher self-efficacy. However, of three types of self-efficacy explored in the study, efficacy in using inclusive instructions, efficacy in collaboration, and efficacy in managing behavior, only self-efficacy in collaboration was a significant predictor of teachers' attitudes toward inclusion. Savolainen, Engelbrecth, Nel, and Malinen (2011) discovered these same results among 1,141 primary and secondary level teachers from South Africa (n = 319) and Finland (n = 822).

Results of data analysis for Research Question 2 also indicated that Efficacy in Instructional Strategies and teacher type were predictors of Advantages and Disadvantages of Inclusion subscale scores and the TSES total scale, the subscale Efficacy in Instructional Strategies, and teacher type were predictors of Professional Issues of Inclusion subscale scores. Although results of studies presented in the literature generally support the concept that levels of general teacher self-efficacy and teacher type are predictors of teachers' overall attitude toward inclusion, no research specifically supports the connection between specific types of efficacy and teacher type and specific aspects of attitudes toward inclusion identified in this study. Likewise, although teacher education level (bachelor's degree) was found to be a significant predictor of the Logistical Issues of Inclusion subscale scores in this study, this result is not supported in the literature.

# **Implications for Social Change**

The results of this study have practical application in the educational setting. Sze (2009) asserted that teacher attitude is an important predictor of teacher effectiveness with regard to the capacity to facilitate the integration of students with disabilities into the general education setting. Specifically, teachers with negative attitudes are less effective than those with positive attitudes (Sze, 2009). Ultimately then, a teacher's attitude toward inclusion can be an integral part of the successful implementation of inclusive practices, which can contribute to student achievement (Hwang & Evans, 2011). Results of this study demonstrated that general education teachers in the focus school have less positive attitudes than special education teachers have. Based on Sze's assertions, these teachers presumably are less effective than they could be with regard to inclusive practices in educational setting. This means that special education students may not be receiving the level of support they need to be successful in the general education classroom. School administrators, however, have the potential to initiate change. By helping teachers improve their attitudes toward inclusion, administrators can help teachers become more effective with regard to implementing inclusive strategies and, ultimately, improving student outcomes.

Results of this study also indicated that overall teacher efficacy, Efficacy in Instructional Strategies, and teacher type were predictors of Teachers' Attitudes Toward Inclusion and that higher levels of self-efficacy were associated with more positive attitudes toward inclusion. More specifically, Efficacy in Instructional Strategies and teacher type also were predictors of Advantages and Disadvantages of Inclusion subscale scores and the TSES total scale, the subscale Efficacy in Instructional Strategies, and teacher type were predictors of Professional Issues of Inclusion subscale scores. Based on these results, potentially, teachers' attitudes toward inclusion could be improved by improving teacher levels of self-efficacy. School administrators could do this by implement training not only in instructional strategies but in inclusive practices as well. By doing so, teachers' levels of self-efficacy could be improved, which could help improve teachers' attitudes toward inclusion, again with the potential to improve student outcomes.

## **Recommendations for Action**

It is important that teachers are prepared to teach students with disabilities in the general education setting (Oyler, 2011). Based on the results of this study, I have four recommendations for action. First, I recommend training for general education teachers. Results of this study indicated that special education teachers had more positive attitudes toward inclusion than general education teachers. Researchers have suggested that differences in attitudes toward inclusion may be due to differing levels of college training with regard to methods for teaching students with learning disabilities (see Holdheide & Reschly, 2008; Hsien et al., 2009). Thus, I suggest that school administrators in the focus

school provide general education teachers with opportunities to participate in professional development and other training programs focused on better understanding the needs of students with disabilities.

Second, results of this study indicated that teachers with higher levels of selfefficacy had more positive attitudes toward inclusion. Therefore, I suggest that general education teachers, those with less positive attitudes toward inclusion and thus also lower levels of self-efficacy, be provided with training that promotes self-efficacy. One way to accomplish this would be to help teachers implement simple activities/strategies that would promote immediate success for students with disabilities, which would serve as mastery experiences for teachers and help to develop their sense of self-efficacy. In addition, part of the training process could include teacher observation so that teachers with low levels of self-efficacy and poor experiences implementing inclusive practices could observe teachers with high levels of self-efficacy and positive experiences with implementing inclusive strategies. In this way, the teachers with low levels of selfefficacy could benefit from improved levels of self-efficacy through vicarious experiences.

The benefits of training are well-supported in the literature. Jenkins and Yoshimura (2010) stressed the importance of keeping general education teachers abreast of teaching strategies and professional development activities to increase professional growth. During these professional development sessions, teachers can share ideas and their expertise (Blair et al., 2010; Eccleston, 2010; Jenkins & Yoshimura, 2010; Hepner & Newman, 2010, Naraian, 2010; Sayeski, 2009). Professional development activities also can provide opportunities for teachers to collaborate.

The third suggestion is related to collaboration. Ongoing collaboration can improve the quality of instruction in a classroom (Conderman, 2011) and contributes to high levels of teacher efficacy (Viel-Ruma et al., 2010). Collaboration between general education and special education teachers in particular is an essential element to the successful implementation of inclusive practices (Allison, 2011; Catkin & Rizza, 2009; Hepner & Newman, 2012; Murawski, 2012; Worrell, 2008). Through collaboration, teachers' confidence level and apprehension toward inclusion may decrease. Therefore, my third recommendation is that general education and regular education teachers be provided time to collaborate to meet the needs of students included in the general education setting.

Finally, I also recommend that a mentorship program be developed. A simple program that pairs teachers who self-report themselves as efficacious with regard to teaching students with disabilities in inclusive settings and who self-report themselves as having positive attitudes toward inclusion could serve as mentors to teachers who do not recognize themselves as efficacious in these capacities. Mentor teachers could provide mentee teachers with personal anecdotes as well as opportunities to be observed, which would provide mentee teachers with vicarious experiences, which then could contribute to higher levels of self-efficacy for the mentee teachers. In addition, the mentor teachers could serve as sources of positive and encouraging praise, which would allow mentee teachers to experience verbal persuasion, which then also could contribute to higher levels of self-efficacy for the mentee teachers.

## **Recommendations for Further Study**

Reflecting on this study, I recognized that it would be beneficial to explore differences in teachers' attitudes towards inclusion at various grade levels. This study was delimited to teachers at the elementary and middle school levels. It is possible that the duties associated with inclusive practices and/or the unique needs of students with disabilities as various age levels impact teachers' attitudes differently. Therefore, I recommend exploring differences in teachers' attitudes towards inclusion at the elementary, middle, and high school levels.

Additional research should be conducted to explore other variables that may be related to teachers' attitudes toward inclusion. For example, researchers could consider the impact of collective teacher efficacy and efficacy for implementing inclusive strategies in the classroom (as opposed to general Efficacy for Student Engagement, Efficacy in Instructional Strategies, and Efficacy for Classroom Management) on teachers' attitudes toward inclusion. Researchers also could consider the impact of personal teacher characteristics such as age and years of teaching experience on teachers' attitudes toward inclusion. Because there were too few teacher responses to analyze the data for gender and the educational level doctoral degree, I also recommend these personal teacher characteristics be considered in future research.

Finally, I recommend that future research be conducted using a mixed method study design. By using qualitative methods to collect data from teachers, researchers may

gain more personal insight into teachers' experiences with regard to inclusive practices. An understanding of teacher perspectives in this regard could provide insight into teachers' level of efficacy with regard to teaching students with disabilities in the inclusive setting in particular and their attitudes toward inclusion in general.

## Conclusion

Inclusion is a result of the requirement of both IDEA (2004) and NCLB (2002); therefore, administrators, general education teachers, special education teachers, and all involved in educating students with disabilities are mandated to modify instruction and provide instructional strategies to accommodate students with disabilities. As a result, students with disabilities are given opportunities to interact and be educated with their peers without learning disabilities. However, considering Bandura's (1977) theory of self-efficacy and social cognitive theory (1986) with regard to teachers and inclusive practices in the general education classroom, teachers who are not knowledgeable about inclusive strategies may not feel self-efficacious with regard to implementing such strategies. When teachers have low levels of self-efficacy with regard to inclusive practices, they are not likely to actively put forth effort to implement these strategies. In addition, low levels of teacher self-efficacy can affect teachers' attitudes toward inclusion, which further may deter teachers from actively putting forth effort to implement inclusive strategies in the classroom. When teachers do not actively implement strategies to ensure that students with disabilities receive the proper support they need to be successful, they are not likely to be successful. This condition is problematic and warrants attention. That general education teachers in this study were

found to have less positive attitudes than special education teachers, and this can be interpreted to mean that they likely also have lower levels of self-efficacy. Again, these characteristics in teachers are undesirable because they ultimately can impact the success of students with disabilities in the general education classrooms.

Results of this study are not generalizable to the larger population. However, they still have value at the local level. Insight from this study may prompt school district administrators to provide teachers with the necessary training, support, and resources they need to educate students with disabilities. In particular, school administrators can implement professional development in inclusive practices to help improve levels of self-efficacy and attitudes toward inclusion among not only general education teachers but all teachers in the focus district's schools. By improving teacher self-efficacy and attitudes toward inclusion among the teachers, the amount and quality of inclusive practices implemented in the classroom may be improved. As a result of improved teacher self-efficacy and attitudes toward inclusion, student outcomes may be improved.

## References

- Allday, R., Neilsen-Gatti, S., & Hudson, T. (2013). Preparation for inclusion in teacher education pre-service curricula. *Teacher Education and Special Education*, 36(4), 298-311. doi:10.1177/0888406413497485
- Allison, R. (2011). The lived experiences of general and special education teachers in inclusion classrooms: A phenomenological study. Retrieved from http://www.gcu.edu/Ken-Blanchard-College-of-Business/The-Canyon-Journal-of-Interdisciplinary-Studies/The-Lived-Experiences-of-General-and-Special-Education-Teachers-in-Inclusion-Classrooms-a-Phenomenological-Study.php
- Alquraini, T., & Gut, D. (2012). Critical components of successful inclusion of students with severe disabilities: Literature review. *International Journal of Special Education, 27*(1), 1-20. Retrieved from http://www.internationaljournalofspecial education.com/
- Aud, S., Hussar, W., Johnson, F., Kena, G., Roth, E., Manning, E., . . . Zang, J. (2012). *The condition of education 2012 (NCES 2012-045)*. Washington, DC: U.S.
  Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics. Retrieved from http://nces.ed.gov/pubsearch/pubsinfo.asp?pubid=2012045
- Bandura, A. (1977). Self-efficacy: Toward a unifying theory of behavior change. *Psychological Review*, 84(2), 191-215. doi:10.1016/0146-6402(78)90009-7
- Bandura, A. (1982). Self-efficacy mechanism in human agency. *American Psychologist,* 37(2), 122-147. doi:10.1037/0003-066X.37.2.122

Bandura, A. (1986). The explanatory and predictive scope of self-efficacy theory.

Journal of Social and Clinical Psychology, 4(3), 359-373.

doi:10.1521/jscp.1986.4.3.359

- Bandura, A. (1989). Human agency in social cognitive theory. *American Psychologist*, 44(9), 1175-1184. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037//0003-066X.44.9.1175
- Bandura, A. (1993). Perceived self-efficacy in cognitive development and functioning. *Educational Psychologist*, 28(2), 117-148. http://dx.doi.org/10.1207/s15326985 ep2802\_3
- Bandura, A. (1995). *Self-efficacy in changing societies*. New York, NY: Cambridge University Press.
- Bandura, A. (1997). *Self-efficacy: The exercise of control*. New York, NY: W. H. Freeman.
- Bandura, A. (2001). Social cognitive theory of mass communication. *Media Psychology*, 3(3), 265-299. doi:10.1207/S1532785XMEP0303\_03
- Bandura, A., & Barab, P. G. (1973). Processes governing disinhibitory effects through symbolic modeling. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 82, 1-9. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1037/h0034968
- Baruch, Y., & Holtom, B. C. (2008). Survey response rate levels and trends in organizational research. *Human Relations*, 61(8), 1139-1160. doi:10.1177/ 0018726708094863
- Berry, R. (2010). Preservice and early career teachers' attitudes toward inclusion, instructional accommodations, and fairness: Three profiles. *Teacher Educator*, 45(2), 75-95. doi:10.1080/08878731003623677

- Blair, K.-S. C., Lee, I.-S., Cho, S.-J., & Dunlap, G. (2011). Positive behavior support through family-school collaboration for young children with autism. *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education*, *31*(1), 22-36. doi:10.1177/0271121410377 510
- Bland, J. M., & Altman, D. G. (1997). Statistics notes: Cronbach's alpha. British Medical Journal, 314, 572. doi:10.1136/bmj.314.7080.572
- Buford, S., & Casey, L. (2012). Attitudes of teachers regarding their preparedness to teach students with special needs. *Delta Journal of Education*, 2(2), 16-30.
  Retrieved from http://www.deltastate.edu/college-of-education/delta-journal-of-education
- Carter, N., Prater, M., Jackson, A., & Marchant, M. (2009). Educators' perceptions of collaborative planning process for students with disabilities. *Preventing School Failure*, 54(1), 60-70. doi:10.3200/PSFL.54.1.60-70
- Cassady, J. (2011). Teachers' attitudes toward the inclusion of students with autism and emotional behavioral disorder. *Electronic Journal for Inclusive Education*, 2(7), 1-23. Retrieved from http://corescholar.libraries.wright.edu/ejie/
- Center for Effective Collaboration and Practice. (2001). *Educational placement*. Retrieved from http://cecp.air.org/resources/stats/defedplc.asp

<sup>Chhabra, S., Srivastava, R., & Srivastava, I. (2010). Inclusive education in Botswana:
The perceptions of school teachers.</sup> *Journal of Disability Policy Studies*, 20, 219-228. doi:10.1177/1044207309344690

Chong, W. H., Klassen, R. M., Huan, V. S., Wong, I., & Kates, A. D. (2010). The

relationship among school types, teacher efficacy beliefs, and academic climate: Perspective from Asian middle schools. *Journal of Educational Research, 103*(3), 183-190. doi:10.1080/00220670903382954

- Cipkin, G., & Rizza, F. T. (2010). *The attitude of teachers on inclusion*. Retrieved from nummarius.com/The\_Attitude\_of\_Teachers\_on\_Inclusion.pdf
- Cochran, H. (1997). The developmental and psychometric analysis of the scale of teacher's attitudes toward inclusive classrooms (STATIC; Doctoral dissertation).
  Retrieved from Dissertation & Theses: Full Text database. (Pub. No. AAT 9735689)
- Cochran, H. (2000, October). Differences in teachers' attitudes toward inclusive education as measured by the scale of teachers' attitudes toward inclusive classrooms. Paper presented at the annual meeting of the Mid-Western Educational Research Association, Chicago, IL.
- Cohen, J. (1992). Quantitative methods in psychology. A power primer. *Psychological Bulletin*, 112(1),155-159. Retrieved from http://www.apa.org/pubs/journals/bul/index.aspx
- Combs, S., Elliot, S., & Whipple, K. (2010). Elementary physical education teachers' attitudes towards the inclusion of children with special needs: A qualitative investigation. *International Journal of Special Education*, 25(1), 114-125. Retrieved from http://www.internationaljournalofspecialeducation.com/
- Conderman, G. (2011). Middle school co-teaching: Effective practices and student reflections. *Middle School Journal*, *42*(4), 24-31. Retrieved from http://www.amle

.org/ServicesEvents/MiddleSchoolJournal/tabid/175/Default.aspx

- Conderman, G., Johnston-Rodriguez, S., & Hartman, P. (2009). Communicating and collaborating in co-taught classrooms. *TEACHING Exceptional Children Plus*, 5(5), Article 3. Retrieved from http://journals.cec.sped.org/tec/
- Conderman, G., & Hedin, L. (2012). Purposeful assessment practices for co-teachers. *Teaching Exceptional Children*, 44(4), 18-27. Retrieved from http://cec.metapress .com/home/main.mpx
- Council for Exceptional Children. (2011). *Inclusion*. Retrieved from http://www.cec.sped .org/Content/NavigationMenu/NewsIssues/TeachingLearningCenter/Professional PracticeTopicsInfo/Inclusion/default.htm
- Creswell, J. W. (2003). *Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches* (2nd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Creswell, J. W. (2005). *Educational research: Planning, conducting, and evaluating qualitative and quantitative research* (2nd ed.). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson Education.
- Creswell, J. W. (2009). *Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches*. Thousand Oakes, CA: Sage.
- Damore, S., & Murray, C. (2009). Urban elementary school teachers' perspectives regarding collaborative teaching practices. *Remedial and Special Education*, 30(4) 234-244. doi:10.1177/0741932508321007
- Dana, N. F., & Yendol-Hoppey, D. (2009). *The reflective educator's guide to classroom research*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Corwin Press.

- Dee, T. S., & Jacob, B. (2011). The impact of No Child Left Behind on student achievement. *Journal of Policy Analysis & Management*, 30(3), 418-446. doi:10.1007/s11516-008-0031-5
- Eccleston, S. T. (2010). Successful collaboration: Four essential traits of effective special education specialists. *The Journal of the International Association of Special Education, 11*(1), 40-47. Retrieved from http://www.iase.org/?journal,7
- Ernst, C., & Rogers, M. R. (2009). Development of the inclusion attitude scale for high school teachers. *Journal of Applied School Psychology*, 25(3), 305-322.
  doi:10.1080/1537790080
- Estell, D. B., Jones, M. H., Pearl, R., & Van Acker, R. (2009). Best friendships of students with and without learning disabilities across late elementary school. *Exceptional Children*, 76(1), 110-124. Retrieved from http://www.cec.sped.org/ Publications/CEC-Journals/Exceptional-Children?sc\_lang=en
- Fakolade, O., Adeniyi, S., & Tella, A. (2009). Attitude of teachers toward the inclusion of special needs children in general education classroom: The case of teachers in some selected schools in Nigeria. *International Electronic Journal of Elementary Education, 1*(3), 155-169. Retrieved from http://www.iejee.com/
- Fenty, N. S., & McDuffie-Landrum, K. (2011). Collaboration through co-teaching. *Kentucky English Bulletin*,60(2), 21-26. Retrieved from http://ebscohost.com/
- Fink, A. (2006). *How to conduct surveys: A step-by-step approach*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

Fives, H., & Buehl, M. M. (2009). Examining the factor structure of the teachers' sense

of efficacy scale. *Journal of Experimental Education*, 78(1), 118-134. doi:10 .1080/00220970903224461

- Fletcher, J. M. (2010). The spillover effects of inclusion of classmates with emotional problems on test scores in early elementary school. *Journal of Policy Analysis* and Management, 29(1), 69-83. doi:10.1992/pam.20479
- Forbes, L., & Billet, S. (2012). Successful co-teaching in the science classroom. *Science Scope*, *36*(1), 61-64. Retrieved from http://www.nsta.org/middleschool/
- Forlin, C., & Chambers, D. (2011). Teacher preparation for inclusive education: Increasing knowledge but raising concerns. *Asia-Pacific Journal of Teacher Education*, 39(1), 17-32. doi:10.1080/1359866X.2010.540850
- Fox, J. (1991). Regression diagnostics: An introduction (Quantitative applications in the social sciences). Newbury Park, CA: Sage.
- Friend, M. (2008). *Co-teach! A manual for building and sustaining classroom partnerships in inclusive schools*. Greensboro, NC: Marilyn Friend, Inc.
- Friend, M., Cook, L., Hurley-Chamberlain, D., & Shamberger, C. (2010). Co-teaching:
  An illustration of the complexity of collaboration in special education. *Journal of Educational and Psychological Consultation*, 20, 9-27. doi:10.1080/1047441090
  3535380
- Fuchs, W. W. (2009). Examining teachers' perceived barriers associated with inclusion.
  Journal of Southeastern Regional Association of Teacher Education, 19(1), 3035. Retrieved from http://apbrwww5.apsu.edu/SRATE/index.html

Giangreco, M. (2007). Extending inclusive opportunities. Educational Leadership, 64(5),

34-37. Retrieved from http://www.ascd.org/publications/educational-leadership .aspx

- George, D., & Mallery, P. (2003). SPSS for Windows step by step: A simple guide and reference. 11.0 update (4th ed.). Boston, MA: Allyn & Bacon.
- Gibson, S., & Dembo, M. (1984). Teacher efficacy: A construct validation. Journal of Educational Psychology, 76, 569-582. doi:10.1037/0022-0663.76.4.589
- Glazzard, J. (2011). Perceptions of the barriers of effective inclusion in one primary school: Voices of teachers and teaching assistants. *Support for Learning*, *26*(2), 56-63. doi:10.1111/j.1467-9604.2011.01478.x
- Hanna, D., & Dempster, M. (2012). Psychology statistics for dummies. Chichester, West Sussex, England: John Wiley & Sons.
- Hang, Q., & Rabren, K. (2009). An examination of co-teaching: Perspectives and efficiency indicators. *Remedial and Special Education*, 30(5), 259-268.doi:10
  .1177/0741932508321018
- Harvey, M., Yssel, N., Bauserman, A., & Merbler, J. (2010). Preservice teacher
  reparation for inclusion: An exploration of higher education teacher-training
  institutions. *Remedial and Special Education*, 31(1), 24-33. doi:10.1177/0741932
  508324397
- Hepner, S., & Newman, S. (2010). Teaching is teamwork: Preparing for planning, and implementation effective co-teaching practice. *International Schools Journal*, 29(2), 67-81. Retrieved from http://www.johncattbookshop.com/magazines/ international-school-is

- Hodkinson, A., & Devarakonda, C. (2006). Conceptions and misconceptions of inclusive education One year on. A critical examination of the perspectives and practices of teachers in India. *Research in Education*, *76*(1), 43-55. http://dx.doi.org/10
  .7227/RIE.76.4
- Holdheide, L. R., & Reschly, D. J. (2008). Teacher preparation to deliver inclusive services to students with disabilities. Retrieved from http://www.gtlcenter.org/ products-resources/teacher-preparation-deliver-inclusive-services-studentsdisabilities
- Hollingsworth, H., & Buysee, V. (2009). Establishing friendships in early childhood inclusive settings: What roles do parents and teachers play? *Journal of Early Intervention*, 31(4), 287-307. doi:10.1177/1053815109352659
- Horne, P. E., & Timmons, V. (2009). Making it work: Teachers' perspectives on inclusion. *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, 13(3), 26-41. doi:10 .1080/13603110701433964
- Hoy, W. K., & Woolfolk, A. E. (1993). Teachers' sense of efficacy and the organizational health of schools. *Elementary School Journal*, 93(4), 335-372. doi:10.1086/461729
- Hsien, M., Bortoli, A., & Brown P. M. (2009). Teacher qualification and attitudes towards inclusion. *Australasian Journal of Special Education*, 33(1), 26-41. http://dx.doi.org/10.1375/ajse.33.1.26
- Hwang, Y.-S., & Evans, D. (2011). Attitudes toward inclusion: Gaps between belief and practice. *International Journal of Special Education, 26*(1), 136-146. Retrieved

from http://www.internationaljournalofspecialeducation.com/

Idol, L. (2006). Toward inclusion of special education students in general education: A program evaluation of eight schools. *Remedial and Special Education*, 27(2), 77-94. doi:10.1177/07419325060270020601

Individuals with Disabilities Act Amendments of 1997, Pub. L. No. 105-172 (1997). Retrieved from http://www2.ed.gov/policy/speced/guid/idea/omip.html

- Individuals with Disabilities Education Act, Pub. L. 108-446 (2004). Retrieved from http://idea.ed.gov/explore/view/p/%2Croot%2Cstatute%2C
- Itkonen, T. (2007). PL 94-142: Policy, evolution, and landscape. *Shift Issues in Teacher Education, 16*(2). Retrieved from http://www1.chapman.edu/ITE/index.html
- Jenkins, A., & Yoshimura, J. (2010). Not another inservice! Meeting the special education professional development needs of elementary general educators. *Teaching Exceptional Children, 42*(5), 36-43. Retrieved from http://cec.metapress .com/home/main.mpx
- Jimenez, B.A., Browder, D. M., Spooner, F., & Dibiase, W. (2012). Inclusive inquiry science using peer-mediated embedded instruction for students with moderate intellectual disability. *Exceptional Children*, 78(3), 301-317. Retrieved from http://www.cec.sped.org
- Johnson, H. L., & Fullwood, H. L. (2006). Disturbing behaviors in the secondary classroom: How do general educators perceive problem behaviors? *Journal of Instructional Psychology*, 33(1), 20-39. Retrieved from http://www.apa.org/pubs/ journals/edu/index.aspx

- Joy, R., & Murphy, E. (2012). The inclusion of children with special educational needs in an intensive French as a second-language program: From theory to practice. *Canadian Journal of Education*, 35(1), 102-119. Retrieved from http://ojs.vre .upei.ca/index.php/cje-rce
- Katz, J., & Porath, M. (2012). Diverse voices: Middle years students' insights into life in inclusive classrooms. *Exceptionality Education International*, 22(1), 2-16.
  Retrieved from http://ejournals.library.ualberta.ca/index.php/eei/issue/archive
- Kimbrough, R., & Mellen, K. (2012). Research summary: Perceptions of inclusion of students with disabilities in the middle school. Retrieved from http://www.amle .org/TabId/198/ArtMID/696/ArticleID/308/Research-Summary-Perceptions-of-Inclusion-of-Students-with-Disabilities.aspx
- Klassen, R., & Chiu, M. (2010). Effects on teachers' self-efficacy and job satisfaction: Teacher gender, years of experience, and job stress. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *102*(3), 741-756. doi:10.1037/a0019237
- Knapp, T. R. (1991). Focus on psychometrics. Coefficient alpha: Conceptualizations and anomalies. *Research in Nursing & Health*, 14(6), 457-460. doi:10.1002/nur .4770140610
- Kosko, K. W., & Wilkins, J. L. M. (2009). General educators' in-service training and their self-perceived ability to adapt instruction for students with IEPs. *Professional Educator*, 33(2), 14-23. Retrieved from http://www.theprofessionale ducator.org/articles/combined%20fall\_09.pdf

Lamport, M., Graves, L., & Ward, A. (2012). Special needs students in inclusive

classrooms: The impact of social interaction on educational outcomes for learners with emotional and behavioral disabilities. *European Journal of Business and Social Sciences*, *1*(5), 54-69. Retrieved from http://www.ejbss.com/recent.aspx

- Lawrence-Brown, D. (2006). Differentiated instruction: Inclusive strategies for standards based learning that benefits the whole-class. *American Secondary Education Journal, 32*(3), 34-62. Retrieved from http://www.ashland.edu/ase
- Leatherman, J. (2009). Teachers' voices concerning collaborative teams within an inclusive elementary school. *Teaching Education, 20*(2), 189-202. doi:10.1080/10476210902718104
- Leedy, P. D., & Ormrod, J. E. (2010). *Practical research: Planning and design* (9th ed.). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Merrill/Prentice Hall.
- Leko, M., & Brownwell, M. (2009). Crafting quality professional development for special educators: What school leaders should know. *Teaching Exceptional Children*, 42(1), 64-70. Retrieved from http://cec.metapress.com/home/main.mpx
- Lincoln, E. G., & Guba, Y. S. (1985). *Effective evaluation*. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Litvack, K., Ritchie, K., & Shore, B. (2011). High and average-achieving students' perceptions of disabilities and of students with disabilities in inclusive classrooms. *Exceptional Children*, 77(4), 474-487. Retrieved fromhttp://cec .metapress.com/home/main.mpx
- Maanum, J. L. (2009). *The general educator's guide to special education*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Corwin Press.

- Malinen, O.-P., Savolainen, H., & Xu, J. (2012). Beijing in-service teachers' self-efficacy and attitudes towards inclusive education. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 28, 526-534. doi:10.1016/j.tate.2011.12.004
- Mastropieri, M., Scruggs, T., & Berkeley, S. (2007, February). Peers helping with support from their peers: Students with special needs can succeed in the general classroom. *Educational Leadership*, 64(5), 54-58. Retrieved from http://www .ascd.org/publications/educational-leadership/archived-issues.aspx
- McDuffie, K. A., Mastropieri, M. A., & Scruggs, T. E. (2009). Differential effects of peer tutoring in co-taught and non-co-taught classes: Results for content learning and student teacher interactions. *Exceptional Children*, 75(4), 493-510. Retrieved from http://www.cec.sped.org
- McGuire, K. (2011). *The role of teacher efficacy on student achievement in mathematics* (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from http://library.waldenu.edu/784.htm
- McLeskey, J., Landers, E., Williamson, P., & Hoppey, D. (2012). Are we moving toward educating students with disabilities in less restrictive settings? *Journal of Special Education*, 46(3), 131-140. doi:10.1177/0022466910376670
- Meadan, H., & Monda-Amaya, L. (2008). Disabilities in the general classroom: A structure for providing social support. *Intervention in School and Clinic*, 43(3), 158-167. doi:10.1177/10533451207311617
- Mertler, C. A., & Vannatta, R. A. (2005). *Advanced and multivariate statistical methods* (3rd ed.). Glendale, CA: Pyrczak.

Mogharreban, C. C., & Bruns, D. (2009). Moving to inclusive pre-kindergarten

classrooms: Lessons from the field. Early Childhood Education Journal,

*36*(5),407-414. doi:10.1007/s10643-008-0301-0

- Mowat, J. (2009). The inclusion of pupils perceived as having social and emotional behavioural difficulties in mainstream schools: A focus upon learning. *Support for Learning*, *24*(4), 159-169. doi:10.1111/j.1467-9604.2009.01419.x
- Multon, K. D., & Coleman, J. S. M. (2010). Coefficient alpha. In N. J. Salkind (Ed.), *Encyclopedia of Research Design* (pp. 160-164). Retrieved from http://www .sage-ereference.com/
- Murawski, W., & Dieker, L. (2008). Fifty ways to keep your coteacher: Strategies for before, during, and after co-teaching. *Teaching Exceptional Children, 40*(4), 40–48. doi:10.1177/004005990804000405
- Murawski, W. W. (2012). 10 tips for using coplanning time more efficiently. *Teaching Exceptional Children*, 44(4), 8-15. Retrieved from http://cec.metapress.com/ home/main.mpx
- Murawski, W., & Hughes, C. (2009). Response to intervention, collaboration, and coteaching: A logical combination for successful systemic change. *Preventing School Failure*, 53(4), 267-277. doi:10.3200/PSFL.53.4.267-277
- Naraian, S. (2010). General, special, and inclusive. Refiguring professional identities in a collaboratively taught classroom. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 26(8), 1677-1686. doi:10.1016lj.tate.2010.06.020
- National Center on Educational Restructuring and Inclusion. (1995, Fall). National study on inclusion: Overview and summary report. *National Center on Educational*

*Restructuring and Inclusion Bulletin, 2*(2). Retrieved from ERIC database. (ED389143)

- No Child Left Behind Act of 2001, 20 U.S.C. § 6301 et seq. (2002). Retrieved from http://www2.ed.gov/policy/elsec/leg/esea02/index.html
- Odoms, S., Buysee, V., & Soukakaou, E. (2011). Inclusion for young children with disabilities: A quarter century of research perspectives. *Journal of Early Intervention, 33*(4), 344-356. doi:10.1177/1053815111430094
- O'Rourke, J., & Houghton, S. (2009). The perceptions of secondary teachers and students about the implementation of an inclusive classroom model for students with mild disabilities. *Australian Journal of Teacher Education*, *34*(1), 23-41. http://dx.doi .org/10.14221/ajte.2009v34n1.3
- Orr, A. C. (2009). New special educators reflect about inclusion: Preparation and K-12 current practice. *Journal of Ethnographic & Qualitative Research*, *3*, 228-239.
   Retrieved from http://www.cedarville.edu/event/eqrc/journal/journal.htm
- Oyler, C. (2011). Teacher preparation for inclusive and critical special education. *Teacher Education and Special Education*, *34*(3), 201-218. doi:10.1177/0888406 411406745
- Parasuram, K. (2006). Variables that affect teachers' attitudes towards disability and inclusive education in Mumbai, India. *Disability & Society*, 21(3), 231-242.http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/09687590600617352
- Parker, S. (2009). A comparison of the attitudes of secondary regular education and special education teachers toward inclusion of students with mild disabilities in

*their classrooms* (Doctoral dissertation). Available from ProQuest Dissertations and Theses database. (UMI 3351258)

- Pas, E., Bradshaw, C., Hershfeldt, P., & Leaf, P. (2010). A multi-level exploration of the influence of teacher efficacy and burnout on response to student behavior and school base service use. *School Psychology Quarterly*, 25(1), 13-27. doi:10.1037/ a0018576
- Prather-Jones, B. (2011). Some people aren't cut out for it: The role of personality factors in the careers of teachers of students with EBD. *Remedial and Special Education*, 32, 172-191. http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0741932510362195
- Pugach, M. C., & Winn, J. A. (2011). Research on co-teaching and teaming. An updated resource for induction. *Journal of Special Education Leadership*, 24(1), 36-46. (EJ926850)
- Reed, F., McIntyre, L., Dusek, J., & Quintero, N. (2011). Preliminary assessment of friendship, problem behavior, and social adjustment in children with disabilities in an inclusive education setting. *Journal of Developmental Physical Disability, 23*(6), 477-489. doi:10.1007/s10882-011-9236-2
- Rosenzweig, K. (2009). Are today's general education teachers prepared to meet the needs of their inclusive students. Paper presented at the meeting of Northeastern Educational Research Association, Rocky Hill, Connecticut. Retrieved from http://digitalcommons.uconn.edu/nera\_2009/
- Ross-Hill, R. (2009). Teacher attitude towards inclusion practices and special needs students. *Journal of Research in Special Educational Needs*, *9*(3), 188-195.

doi:10.1111/j.1471-3802.2009.01135.x

- Ryndak, D., Alper, S., Ward, T., Storch, J. F., & Wilson Montgomery, J. (2010). Long-term outcomes of services in inclusive and self-contained settings for siblings with comparable significant disabilities. *Education and Training in Autism and Developmental Disabilities*, 45(1), 38-53. Retrieved from http://www.daddcec .org/Publications/ETADDJournal.aspx
- Savolainen, H., Engelbrect, P., Nel, M., &Malinen, O.-P. (2011). Understanding teachers' attitudes and self-efficacy in inclusive education: Implications for preservice and in-service teacher education. *European Journal of Special Needs Education, 27*(1), 51-68. doi:10.1080/08856257.2011.613603
- Sayeski, K. L. (2009). Defining special educators' tools the building blocks of effective collaboration. *Intervention in School and Clinic*, 45, 38-44. doi:10.1177/105345 1209338398
- Scruggs, T., Mastropieri, M., & Marshak, L. (2012). Peer-mediated instruction in inclusive secondary social studies learning: Direct and indirect learning effects. *Learning Disabilities and Research and Practice*, 27(1), 12-20. doi:10.1111/ j.1540-5826.2011.00346.x
- Shady, S., Luther, V., & Richman, L. (2013). Teaching the teachers: A study of perceived professional development needs of educators to enhance positive attitudes toward inclusive practices. *Education Research and Perspectives*, 40(1), 169-191.
  Retrieved from http://www.erpjournal.net/wp-content/uploads/2013/04/ERPV40
  Final Luther-et-al.-Teaching-the-teachers.pdf

- Sokal, L., & Sharma, U. (2014). Canadian in-service teachers' concerns, efficacy, and attitudes about inclusive teaching. *Exceptionality Education International, 23*(1), 59-71. Retrieved from http://ir.lib.uwo.ca/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1021 &context=eei
- Sosu, E. M., Mtika, P., & Colucci-Gray, L. (2010). Does initial teacher education make a difference? The impact of teacher preparation on student teachers' attitudes towards educational inclusion. *Journal of Education for Teaching: International Research and Pedagogy*, *36*(4), 389-405. doi:10.1080/02607476.2010.513847
- Swackhammer, L. E., Koellner, K., Basile, C., & Kimbrough, D. (2009). Increasing the self-efficacy of inservice teachers through content knowledge. *Teacher Education Quarterly*, 36(2), 63-78. Retrieved from http://www.teqjournal.org/TEQ%20 Website/TEQ%20Page/TEQ.html
- Swick, K., & Hook, L. (2005). Understanding educator attitudes toward the implementation of inclusive education. *Early Childhood Education Journal*, 32(6), 397-403. doi:10.1007/s10643-005-0011-9
- Sze, S. (2009). A literature review: Pre-service teachers' attitudes toward students with disabilities. *Education*, 130(1), 53-56. Retrieved from http://www.projectinnov ation.biz/education
- Tavakol, M., & Dennick, R. (2011). Making sense of Cronbach's alpha. *International Journal of Medical Education*, *2*, 53-55. doi:10.5116/ijme.4dfb.8dfd
- Tsakiridou, H., & Polyzopoulou, K. (2014). Greek teachers' attitudes toward the inclusion of students with special educational needs. *American Journal of*

Educational Research, 2(4), 208-218. doi:10.12691/education-2-4-6

- Tschannen-Moran, M., & Woolfolk Hoy, A. (1998). Teacher efficacy: Its meaning and measure. *Review of Educational Research*, 68, 202-248. doi:10.2307/1170754
- Tschannen-Moran, M., & Woolfolk Hoy, A. (2001). Teacher efficacy: Capturing an inclusive construct. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 17(7), 783-805. http://dx .doi.org/10.1016/S0742-051X(01)00036-1
- Viel-Ruma, K., Houchings, D., Jolivette, K., & Benson, G. (2010). Efficacy beliefs of special educators: The relationships among collective efficacy, teacher selfefficacy, and job satisfaction. *Teacher Education and Special Education*, 33(3), 225-233. doi:10.1177/0888406409360129
- Vygotsky, L. S. (1978). *Mind in society: The development of higher psychological processes*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Watson, A., & McCathren, R. (2009). Including children with special needs. Are you and your early childhood program ready? *Young Children*, 64, 1-7. Retrieved from http://www.naeyc.org/files/yc/file/200903/BTJWatson.pdf
- Worrell, J. L. (2008). How secondary schools can avoid the seven deadly school "sins" of inclusion. *American Secondary Education*, 36(2), 43-56. Retrieved from http://www.ebscohost.com/
- Yell, M. (2006). *The law and special education* (2nd ed.). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson Education.

Appendix A: Permission to Reprint Bandura's Model of Self-Efficacy

#### JOHN WILEY AND SONS LICENSE TERMS AND CONDITIONS

This is a License Agreement between Carmen Charley ("You") and John Wiley and Sons ("John Wiley and Sons") provided by Copyright Clearance Center ("CCC"). The license consists of your order details, the terms and conditions provided by John Wiley and Sons, and the payment terms and conditions.

License Number	3070990440098
License date	Jan 16, 2013
Licensed content publisher	John Wiley and Sons
Licensed content publication	Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication
Licensed content title	A Self-Efficacy Theory Explanation for the Management of Remote Workers in Virtual Organizations
Licensed copyright line	Copyright © 2006, John Wiley and Sons
Licensed content author	D. Sandy Staples,John S. Hulland,Christopher A. Higgins
Licensed content date	Jun 23, 2006
Start page	0
End page	0
Type of use	Dissertation/Thesis
Requestor type	University/Academic
Format	Print and electronic
Portion	Figure/table
Number of figures/tables	1
Original Wiley figure/table number(s)	Figure 1
Will you be translating?	No
Total	0.00 USD

Terms and Conditions

#### TERMS AND CONDITIONS

This copyrighted material is owned by or exclusively licensed to John Wiley & Sons, Inc. or one of its group companies (each a "Wiley Company") or a society for whom a Wiley Company has exclusive publishing rights in relation to a particular journal (collectively WILEY"). By clicking "accept" in connection with completing this licensing transaction, you agree that the following terms and conditions apply to this transaction (along with the billing and payment terms and conditions established by the Copyright Clearance Center Inc., ("CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions"), at the time that you opened your Rightslink account (these are available at any time at <a href="http://myaccount.copyright.com">http://myaccount.copyright.com</a>)

#### Terms and Conditions

1. The materials you have requested permission to reproduce (the "Materials") are protected by copyright.

2. You are hereby granted a personal, non-exclusive, non-sublicensable, non-transferable, worldwide, limited license to reproduce the Materials for the purpose specified in the licensing process. This license is for a one-time use only with a maximum distribution equal to the number that you identified in the licensing process. Any form of republication granted by this licence must be completed within two years of the date of the grant of this licence (although copies prepared before may be distributed thereafter). The Materials shall not be used in any other manner or for any other purpose. Permission is granted subject to an appropriate acknowledgement given to the

author, title of the material/book/journal and the publisher. You shall also duplicate the copyright notice that appears in the Wiley publication in your use of the Material. Permission is also granted on the understanding that nowhere in the text is a previously published source acknowledged for all or part of this Material. Any third party material is expressly excluded from this permission.

3. With respect to the Materials, all rights are reserved. Except as expressly granted by the terms of the license, no part of the Materials may be copied, modified, adapted (except for minor reformatting required by the new Publication), translated, reproduced, transferred or distributed, in any form or by any means, and no derivative works may be made based on the Materials without the prior permission of the respective copyright owner. You may not alter, remove or suppress in any manner any copyright, trademark or other notices displayed by the Materials. You may not license, rent, sell, loan, lease, pledge, offer as security, transfer or assign the Materials, or any of the rights granted to you hereunder to any other person.

4. The Materials and all of the intellectual property rights therein shall at all times remain the exclusive property of John Wiley & Sons Inc or one of its related companies (WILEY) or their respective licensors, and your interest therein is only that of having possession of and the right to reproduce the Materials pursuant to Section 2 herein during the continuance of this Agreement. You agree that you own no right, title or interest in or to the Materials or any of the intellectual property rights therein. You shall have no rights hereunder other than the license as provided for above in Section 2. No right, license or interest to any trademark, trade name, service mark or other branding ("Marks") of WILEY or its licensors is granted hereunder, and you agree that you shall not assert any such right, license or interest with respect thereto.

5. NEITHER WILEY NOR ITS LICENSORS MAKES ANY WARRANTY OR REPRESENTATION OF ANY KIND TO YOU OR ANY THIRD PARTY, EXPRESS, IMPLIED OR STATUTORY, WITH RESPECT TO THE MATERIALS OR THE ACCURACY OF ANY INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THE MATERIALS, INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, ANY IMPLIED WARRANTY OF MERCHANTABILITY, ACCURACY, SATISFACTORY QUALITY, FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE, USABILITY, INTEGRATION OR NON-INFRINGEMENT AND ALL SUCH WARRANTIES ARE HEREBY EXCLUDED BY WILEY AND ITS LICENSORS AND WAIVED BY YOU.

6. WILEY shall have the right to terminate this Agreement immediately upon breach of this Agreement by you.

7. You shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless WILEY, its Licensors and their respective directors, officers, agents and employees, from and against any actual or threatened claims, demands, causes of action or proceedings arising from any breach of this Agreement by you.

8. IN NO EVENT SHALL WILEY OR ITS LICENSORS BE LIABLE TO YOU OR ANY OTHER PARTY OR ANY OTHER PERSON OR ENTITY FOR ANY SPECIAL, CONSEQUENTIAL, INCIDENTAL, INDIRECT, EXEMPLARY OR PUNITIVE DAMAGES, HOWEVER CAUSED, ARISING OUT OF OR IN CONNECTION WITH THE DOWNLOADING, PROVISIONING, VIEWING OR USE OF THE MATERIALS REGARDLESS OF THE FORM OF ACTION, WHETHER FOR BREACH OF CONTRACT, BREACH OF WARRANTY, TORT, NEGLIGENCE, INFRINGEMENT OR OTHERWISE (INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, DAMAGES BASED ON LOSS OF PROFITS, DATA, FILES, USE, BUSINESS OPPORTUNITY OR CLAIMS OF THIRD PARTIES), AND WHETHER OR NOT THE PARTY HAS BEEN ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGES. THIS LIMITATION SHALL APPLY NOTWITHSTANDING ANY FAILURE OF ESSENTIAL PURPOSE OF ANY LIMITED REMEDY PROVIDED HEREIN.

9. Should any provision of this Agreement be held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be illegal, invalid, or unenforceable, that provision shall be deemed amended to achieve as nearly as possible the same economic effect as the original provision, and the legality, validity and enforceability of the remaining provisions of this Agreement shall not be affected or impaired thereby.

10. The failure of either party to enforce any term or condition of this Agreement shall not constitute a waiver of either party's right to enforce each and every term and condition of this Agreement. No breach under this agreement shall be deemed waived or excused by either party unless such waiver or consent is in writing signed by the party granting such waiver or consent. The waiver by or consent of a party to a breach of any provision of this Agreement shall not operate or be construed as a waiver of or consent to any other or subsequent breach by such other party.

11. This Agreement may not be assigned (including by operation of law or otherwise) by you without WILEY's prior written consent.

12. Any fee required for this permission shall be non-refundable after thirty (30) days from receipt.

13. These terms and conditions together with CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions (which are incorporated herein) form the entire agreement between you and WILEY concerning this licensing transaction and (in the absence of fraud) supersedes all prior agreements and representations of the parties, oral or written. This Agreement may not be amended except in writing signed by both parties. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties' successors, legal representatives, and authorized assigns.

14. In the event of any conflict between your obligations established by these terms and conditions

and those established by CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions, these terms and conditions shall prevail.

15. WILEY expressly reserves all rights not specifically granted in the combination of (i) the license details provided by you and accepted in the course of this licensing transaction, (ii) these terms and conditions and (iii) CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions.

16. This Agreement will be void if the Type of Use, Format, Circulation, or Requestor Type was misrepresented during the licensing process.

17. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of New York, USA, without regards to such state's conflict of law rules. Any legal action, suit or proceeding arising out of or relating to these Terms and Conditions or the breach thereof shall be instituted in a court of competent jurisdiction in New York County in the State of New York in the United States of America and each party hereby consents and submits to the personal jurisdiction of such court, waives any objection to venue in such court and consents to service of process by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, at the last known address of such party.

#### Wiley Open Access Terms and Conditions

All research articles published in Wiley Open Access journals are fully open access: immediately freely available to read, download and share. Articles are published under the terms of the <u>Creative</u> <u>Commons Attribution Non Commercial License</u>. which permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited and is not used for commercial purposes. The license is subject to the Wiley Open Access terms and conditions: Wiley Open Access articles are protected by copyright and are posted to repositories and websites in accordance with the terms of the <u>Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial License</u>. At the time of deposit, Wiley Open Access articles include all changes made during peer review, copyediting, and publishing. Repositories and websites that host the article are responsible for incorporating any publisher-supplied amendments or retractions issued subsequently. Wiley Open Access articles are also available without charge on Wiley's publishing platform, **Wiley Online Library** or any successor sites.

Use by non-commercial users

For non-commercial and non-promotional purposes individual users may access, download, copy, display and redistribute to colleagues Wiley Open Access articles, as well as adapt, translate, textand data-mine the content subject to the following conditions:

• The authors' moral rights are not compromised. These rights include the right of "paternity" (also known as "attribution" - the right for the author to be identified as such) and "integrity" (the right for the author not to have the work altered in such a way that the author's reputation or integrity may be impugned).

• Where content in the article is identified as belonging to a third party, it is the obligation of the user to ensure that any reuse complies with the copyright policies of the owner of that content.

• If article content is copied, downloaded or otherwise reused for noncommercial research and education purposes, a link to the appropriate bibliographic citation (authors, journal, article title, volume, issue, page numbers, DOI and the link to the definitive published version on Wiley Online Library) should be maintained. Copyright notices and disclaimers must not be deleted.

• Any translations, for which a prior translation agreement with Wiley has not been agreed, must prominently display the statement: "This is an unofficial translation of an article that appeared in a Wiley publication. The publisher has not endorsed this translation."

Use by commercial "for-profit" organisations

Use of Wiley Open Access articles for commercial, promotional, or marketing purposes requires further explicit permission from Wiley and will be subject to a fee. Commercial purposes include:

• Copying or downloading of articles, or linking to such articles for further redistribution, sale or licensing;

• Copying, downloading or posting by a site or service that incorporates advertising with such content;

• The inclusion or incorporation of article content in other works or services (other than normal quotations with an appropriate citation) that is then available for sale or licensing, for a fee (for example, a compilation produced for marketing purposes, inclusion in a sales pack)

Use of article content (other than normal quotations with appropriate citation) by for-profit organisations for promotional purposes

• Linking to article content in e-mails redistributed for promotional, marketing or educational purposes;

• Use for the purposes of monetary reward by means of sale, resale, licence, loan, transfer or other form of commercial exploitation such as marketing products

• Print reprints of Wiley Open Access articles can be purchased from: <u>corporatesales@wiley.com</u>

Other Terms and Conditions:

BY CLICKING ON THE "I AGREE..." BOX, YOU ACKNOWLEDGE THAT YOU HAVE READ AND FULLY UNDERSTAND EACH OF THE SECTIONS OF AND PROVISIONS SET FORTH IN THIS AGREEMENT AND THAT YOU ARE IN AGREEMENT WITH AND ARE WILLING TO ACCEPT ALL OF YOUR OBLIGATIONS AS SET FORTH IN THIS AGREEMENT.

v1.7

Gratis licenses (referencing \$0 in the Total field) are free. Please retain this printable license for your reference. No payment is required.

# May 27, 2014 Ms. Carmen Y. Charley Dear Ms. Charley: This letter is to inform you that you are being granted written permission to engage in research for your dissertation study on "General Education and Special Education Teachers" Attitude Toward Inclusion."

This letter is to inform you that you are being granted written permission to engage in research for your dissertation study on "General Education and Special Education Teachers' Attitude Toward Inclusion." From your request, it is our understanding that you would like to collect data from general and special education teachers at the elementary and middle school levels via scales and a demographic data sheet. In addition, you also would like to do research and collect data from the district level.

In order to further assist you, a copy of this approval letter will be sent to elementary and middle school principals and to Please

communicate and coordinate your research activity with them before taking any action.

In closing, we wish you much success in completing your research and would be very interested in your findings. If we can be of further assistance, please do not hesitate to call on us.

Sincerely yours,



# Appendix B: Permission from School District to Conduct Study

Appendix C: Permission to Use the Scale of Teachers' Attitudes Toward Inclusive

# Classrooms

Original E-mail From : Keith Cochran [kcochran1976@yahoo.com] Date : 02/25/2011 07:36 AM To : Carmen Charley [carmen.charley@waldenu.edu] Subject : Re: Survey Request

Dear Carmen,

Thank you for your interest in the STATIC instrument. I am overwhelmed at the interest it generated after having created it. It has been used in scores of studies, in more than 19 countries and translated into at least seven languages. Hopefully, you will find it helpful as well.

I am happy for you to use the STATIC in your dissertation research. I wish you the very best with your research and glad to be a small part of it. If I may be of further assistance to you, please do not hesitate to contact me.

Sincerely,

H. Keith Cochran, Ph.D. Associate Professor 107 E Walnut ST Gadsden, AL 35903

# Appendix D: Permission to Use the Teachers' Self-Efficacy Scale

Original E-mail From : Anita Hoy [anitahoy@mac.com] Date : 02/08/2011 06:03 PM To : Carmen Charley [carmen.charley@waldenu.edu] Subject : Re: Survey Request

Sorry, I have been traveling.

You are welcome to use the TSES in your research.

Anita

Anita Woolfolk Hoy, Professor Educational Psychology & Philosophy School of Educational Policy and Leadership The Ohio State University Columbus, OH 43210

 phone:
 <u>614-488-5064</u>

 fax:
 <u>614-292-7900</u>

 e-mail
 <u>anitahoy@mac.com</u>

http://ehe.osu.edu/epl/directory/anita-hoy/

On Feb 8, 2011, at 12:46 PM, Carmen Charley wrote:

Dear Dr. Woolfolk-Hoy,

I am writing you in reference to a letter that I mailed about two weeks ago. I wrote the letter to request permission to use the Teacher's Sense of Efficacy Scale in my study on General Education and Special Education Teachers' Attitudes Towards the Inclusion of Students with Disabilities in the Regular Ed. Setting. Attached is a copy of the letter. You may respond by email or letter.

I look forward to hearing from you soon. If you have any questions, please contact me at <u>803-707-1434</u> or <u>803-535-0978</u>.

Thank you,

Carmen Y. Charley Walden University Doctoral Candidate
Appendix E: Teacher Attitude and Self-Efficacy Survey

## **Teacher Attitude and Self-Efficacy Survey**

## Directions: For each section, please select one answer for each question.

Section 1: Demographic Information

1. Gender

\_\_\_\_\_ Male

\_\_\_\_ Female

2. Highest level of education completed.

\_\_\_\_\_Bachelor's degree

\_\_\_\_\_ Master's degree

\_\_\_\_\_ Master's degree + 30

\_\_\_\_\_ Doctorate degree

3. Capacity in which you have taught for the majority of the last 5 years of your teaching career.

\_\_\_\_\_ General education teacher

\_\_\_\_\_ Special education teacher

4. Grade level at which you've taught for the majority of the last 5 years of your teaching career.

\_\_\_\_\_ Elementary

\_\_\_\_\_ Middle

## Section 2: Attitudes Toward Inclusive Classrooms

5. I am confident in my ability to teach children with special needs.

0	1	2	3	4	5
Strongly	Disagree	Not sure but	Not sure but	Agree	Strongly
disagree		tend to disagree	tend to agree		agree

6. I have been adequately trained to meet the needs of children with disabilities.

0	1	2	3	4	5
Strongly	Disagree	Not sure but	Not sure but	Agree	Strongly
disagree		tend to disagree	tend to agree		agree

7. I become easily frustrated when teaching students with special needs.

0	1	2	3	4	5
Strongly	Disagree	Not sure but	Not sure but	Agree	Strongly
disagree		tend to disagree	tend to agree		agree

8. I become anxious when I learn that a student with special needs will be in my classroom.

0	1	2	3	4	5
Strongly	Disagree	Not sure but	Not sure but	Agree	Strongly
disagree		tend to disagree	tend to agree		agree

9. Although children differ intellectually, physically, and psychologically, I believe that all children can learn in most environments.

0	1	2	3	4	5
Strongly	Disagree	Not sure but	Not sure but	Agree	Strongly
disagree		tend to disagree	tend to agree		agree

10. I believe that academic progress is possible in children with special needs.

0	1	2	3	4	5
Strongly	Disagree	Not sure but	Not sure but	Agree	Strongly
disagree		tend to disagree	tend to agree		agree

11. I believe that children with special needs should be placed in special education classes.

0	1	2	3	4	5
Strongly	Disagree	Not sure but	Not sure but	Agree	Strongly
disagree		tend to disagree	tend to agree		agree

12. I am comfortable teaching a child that is moderately physically disabled.

0	1	2	3	4	5
Strongly	Disagree	Not sure but	Not sure but	Agree	Strongly
disagree		tend to disagree	tend to agree		agree

13. I have problems teaching a student with cognitive deficits.

0	1	2	3	4	5
Strongly	Disagree	Not sure but	Not sure but	Agree	Strongly
disagree		tend to disagree	tend to agree		agree

14. I can adequately handle students with mild to moderate behavioral problems.

0	1	2	3	4	5
Strongly	Disagree	Not sure but	Not sure but	Agree	Strongly
disagree		tend to disagree	tend to agree		agree

15. Students with special needs learn social skills that are modeled by general education students.

0	1	2	3	4	5
Strongly	Disagree	Not sure but	Not sure but	Agree	Strongly
disagree		tend to disagree	tend to agree		agree

16. Students with special needs have higher academic achievements when included in the general education classroom.

0	1	2	3	4	5
Strongly	Disagree	Not sure but	Not sure but	Agree	Strongly
disagree		tend to disagree	tend to agree		agree

17. It is difficult for children with special needs to make strides in academic education in the general education classroom.

0	1	2	3	4	5
Strongly	Disagree	Not sure but	Not sure but	Agree	Strongly
disagree		tend to disagree	tend to agree		agree

18. Self-esteem of children with special needs is increased when included in the general education classroom.

0	1	2	3	4	5
Strongly	Disagree	Not sure but	Not sure but	Agree	Strongly
disagree		tend to disagree	tend to agree		agree

19. Students with special needs in the regular education classroom hinder the academic progress of the general education student.

0	1	2	3	4	5
Strongly	Disagree	Not sure but	Not sure but	Agree	Strongly
disagree		tend to disagree	tend to agree		agree

20. Special in-service training in teaching special needs students should be required for all general education teachers.

0	1	2	3	4	5
Strongly	Disagree	Not sure but	Not sure but	Agree	Strongly
disagree		tend to disagree	tend to agree		agree

21. I don't mind making special physical arrangements in my room to meet the needs of students with special needs.

0	1	2	3	4	5
Strongly	Disagree	Not sure but	Not sure but	Agree	Strongly
disagree		tend to disagree	tend to agree		agree

22. Adaptive materials and equipment are easily acquired for meeting the needs of students with special needs.

0	1	2	3	4	5
Strongly	Disagree	Not sure but	Not sure but	Agree	Strongly
disagree		tend to disagree	tend to agree		agree

23. My principal is supportive in making needed accommodations for teaching children with special needs.

0	1	2	3	4	5
Strongly	Disagree	Not sure but	Not sure but	Agree	Strongly
disagree		tend to disagree	tend to agree		agree

24. Students with special needs should be included in the general education classroom.

0	1	2	3	4	5
Stron	gly Disagree	Not sure but	Not sure but	Agree	Strongly
disag	ree	tend to disagree	tend to agree		agree

## Section 3: Self-Efficacy

25. How much can you do to control disruptive behavior in the classroom?

1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
Nothing		Very little		Some influence		Quite a bit		A great deal

26. How much can you do to motivate students who show low interest in school work?

1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
Nothing		Very little		Some influence		Quite a bit		A great deal

27. How much can you do to get students to believe they can do well in school work?

1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
Nothing		Very little		Some influence		Quite a bit		A great deal

28. How much can you do to help your students value learning?

1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
Nothing		Very little		Some influence		Quite a bit		A great deal

29. To what extent can you craft good questions for your students?

1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
Nothing		Very little		Some influence		Quite a bit		A great deal

30. How much can you do to get children to follow classroom rules?

1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
Nothing		Very little		Some influence		Quite a bit		A great deal

3 1 2 4 5 6 7 8 9 Nothing Quite Very Some A great little influence a bit deal

31. How much can you do to calm a student who is disruptive or noisy?

32. How well can you establish a classroom management system with each group of students?

1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
Nothing		Very little		Some influence		Quite a bit		A great deal

33. How much can you use a variety of assessment strategies?

1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
Nothing		Very little		Some influence		Quite a bit		A great deal

34. To what extent can you provide an alternative explanation or example when students are confused?

1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
Nothing		Very little		Some influence		Quite a bit		A great deal

35. How much can you assist families in helping their children do well in school?

1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
Nothing		Very little		Some influence		Quite a bit		A great deal

36. How well can you implement alternative strategies in your classroom?

1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
Nothing		Very little		Some influence		Quite a bit		A great deal

Thank you for taking the time to complete this survey.